"ALEXANDRU IOAN CUZA" UNIVERSITY ₀f IAȘI FACULTY OF BIOLOGY DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF BIOLOGY

ECO-COENOTIC CONDITIONS AND THE GENETIC STRUCTURE OF THE *CRAMBE TATARIA* SEBEÓK POPULATIONS IN ROMANIA

PHD THESIS SUMMARY

Scientific coordinator University professor PhD Cătălin TĂNASE

> PhD student Simona Dumitrița CHIRILĂ

IAȘI 2022

List of abbreviations and symbols	2		
List of tables List of figures			
INTRODUCTION	7	2	
PURPOSE, HYPOTHESES, AND OBJECTIVES	11	4	
THESIS STRUCTURE	13	5	
PART I SYNTHESIS OF SPECIALTY LITERATURE	14	6	
CHAPTER 1 CURRENT STATE OF RESEARCH IN THE FIELD	14	6	
Introduction	14	6	
1.1 General considerations for <i>Crambe tataria</i>	15	6	
1.1.1 Conservation status	15	6	
1.1.2 Taxonomy, etymology, and varieties	16	7	
1.1.3 Origin, evolution, and ethnobotany	19	7	
1.1.4 Morphology, biology, and ontogeny	26	8	
1.1.5 Ecology, phytocoenology, and distribution	30	9	
1.2 The current context of research on the species <i>C. tataria</i>	31	9	
Partial conclusions	36	10	
PART II PRESENTATION OF OWN RESEARCH	37	11	
CHAPTER 1 MATERIALS AND METHODS	37	11	
Introduction	37	11	
1.1 Selection and delimitation of study areas	38	11	
1.2 Analysis of the distribution of the species and identification of the causes that	50	11	
determine the population restriction.	39	12	
1.3 Analysis of the characteristics of populations and habitats of <i>C. tataria</i>	39	12	
1.3.1 Recording demographic and morphological parameters	39	12	
1.3.2 Chemical analysis of soil samples	40	13	
1.3.2.1 Collection and preparation of soil samples	40	13	
1.3.2.2 Determination of pH	41	13	
1.3.2.3 Determination of total organic carbon	42	13	
1.3.2.4 Determination of total nitrogen	43	13	
1.3.2.5 Determination of mobile phosphorus and potassium	43	14	
1.3.2.6 Determination of chemical elements with X-ray fluorescence	44	14	
1.3.2.7 Statistical analysis of data	45	14	
1.3.3 Analysis of the relationships between population characteristics and variables	45	14	
1.3.3.1 Setting and selecting variables	45	14	
1.3.3.2 Realization and selection of generalized linear models	48	16	
1.3.3.3 Identifying important variables and testing the relationship with them	48	16	
1.4 Investigations on the micromorphology of leaf areas from <i>C. tataria</i>	49	17	
1.5 Coenotic analysis of <i>C. tataria</i> populations	49	17	
1.5.1 Vegetation sampling	49	17	

CONTENTS

1.5.2 Determination of phytocoenoses	50	17
1.5.3 Analysis of the relationships between the floristic composition and the		
environmental variables	51	18
1.5.4 Description of the type of plant community	52	18
1.6 Analysis of the genetic structure of the species C. tataria	52	18
1.6.1 Plant material collection	52	18
1.6.2 Highlighting genetic variability through the ISSR technique	54	19
1.6.2.1 DNA extraction	54	19
1.6.2.2 DNA amplification	56	19
1.6.2.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis	57	19
1.6.2.4 Image capture and analysis	58	19
1.6.2.5 Quantification of genetic diversity	60	20
Partial conclusions	61	21
CHADTED & DECHITCAND DISCUSSIONS	(\mathbf{a})	~~
CHAPTER 2 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	62 (2	22
2.1 Analysis of the distribution of the species and identification of the spaces that	02	22
2.1 Analysis of the distribution of the species and identification of the causes that $determine the matrix for a f C tatavia nonvelocities in Remanic$	\mathcal{C}^{2}	22
2.1.1 Discussions on the distribution and courses of restriction of the nonvestion	03	22
2.1.1 Discussions on the distribution and causes of restriction of the population	05	24
2.1.1.1 Distribution of the species in Transylvania	66	24
2.1.1.2 Distribution of the species in Moldova	69 72	24
2.1.1.3 Distribution of the species in Muntenia	/3	24
2.2 Analysis of habitat characteristics.	83	24
2.2.1 Characterization of soil type	83	24
2.2.2 Soil analysis: chemical parameters	84	24
2.2.2.1 Variation in pH and total organic carbon	84	24
2.2.2.2 Variation of secondary macronutrients (Ca and Mg)	84	24
2.2.2.3 Variation of primary macronutrients (N, P and K)	85	25
2.2.2.4 Heavy metal variation (Al, As, Pb and Fe)	85	25
2.2.2.5 Variation of silicon, oxygen, and sodium	86	25
2.2.3 Discussions on habitat characteristics	88	26
2.3 Analysis of population characteristics	89	26
2.3.1 Analysis of demographic parameters	89	26
2.3.2 Biometric analysis of some morphological parameters	92	28
2.3.2.1 Plant height	92	28
2.3.2.2 Number of leaves per plant	92	28
2.3.2.3 Leaf size	93	28
2.3.2.4 Inflorescence circumference	95	29
2.3.3 Discussions on population characteristics	95	30
2.4 Analysis of the relationships between population characteristics and variables	100	31
2.4.1 The relationship between plant height and environmental variables	100	31
2.4.2 The relationship between the number of individuals and the variables	101	31
2.4.3 The relationship between inflorescence circumference and variables	102	32
2.4.4 The relationship between the number of leaves per plant and variables	104	32
2.4.5 The relationship between the proportion of flowering individuals and variables	104	33

2.4.6 The relationship between leaf size and variables	105	34		
2.4.7 Discussions on the relationship between population characteristics and				
environmental variables				
2.4.7.1 The relationship between population characteristics and soil chemical				
variables				
2.4.7.2 The relationship between population characteristics and the structural				
characteristics of plant communities	109	36		
2.4.7.3 The relationship between population characteristics and anthropogenic				
variables	110	36		
2.4.7.4 The relationship between population characteristics and abiotic				
variables	110	36		
2.5 Coenotic analysis	111	36		
2.5.1 Syntaxonomic analysis	111	36		
2.5.2 Interpretation of numerical analyzes of the floristic composition	112	37		
2.5.3 Habitat characterization.	113	37		
2.5.4 Description of plant associations	115	38		
2.6 Analysis of the relationships between the floristic composition and the variables	128	46		
2.6.1 Detrended Correspondence Analysis (DCA)	128	46		
2.6.2 Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA)	129	47		
2.6.3 The relationship between the floristic composition and the variables	130	47		
2.6.4 Discussions on habitats	133	48		
2.7 Investigations on the micromorphology of leaf areas from <i>C. tataria</i>	136	49		
2.7.1 The inferior epidermis of the leaf	136	10		
2.7.2 The upper epidermis of the leaf	130	49		
2.8 Diversity and genetic structure of the species <i>C. tataria</i>	1/1	49		
2.8.1 DNA extraction	141	49		
2.8.2 DNA amplification	141	49		
2.8.3 Parameters of genetic diversity	142	50		
2.8.4 Dendrogram analysis	146	50		
2.8.5 Discussions on diversity and genetic structure	1/0	53		
2.8.5.1 Genetic diversity	1/10	53		
2.8.5.2 Colonization events	153	53		
2.8.5.3 Estimation of conservation status	153	53		
2.9 Elaboration of conservation strategies	154	54		
2.9.1 In situ conservation measures	154	54		
2.9.2 Ex situ conservation measures	156	54		
2.9.3 Legislative measures	157	54		
Partial conclusions	158	55		
GENERAL CONCLUSION	161	57		
OWN CONTRIBUTIONS	165	59		
RESEARCH PERSPECTIVES	166	60		
SCIENTIFIC ACTIVITY				
ANNEXES	168			
BIBLIOGRAPHY	207	62		
WEBOGRAPHY	227	65		

Thanks

The elaboration and argumentation of the present doctoral thesis, through which an essential stage in my professional training was completed, was possible with the support and quality scientific guidance of special people, with the help of which the work was done professionally.

I want to begin by expressing my gratitude, respect, and thanks to the scientific coordinator of the paper, Professor PhD Cătălin TĂNASE, corresponding member of the Romanian Academy, for my acceptance as a doctoral student, for the trust granted, for his permanent guidance, but especially for the professional support and complete understanding, showed during the entire period of the doctoral internship and in the elaboration of the doctoral thesis, thus contributing to my professional evolution. I also express my special gratitude to the professor for the time he has invested in helping me to organize and understand the processes underlying the studies in this paper.

I also thank the steering committee members: Assoc. PhD Lăcrămioara Carmen IVĂNESCU, from the Faculty of Biology, from the "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, biologist PhD Adrian OPREA and biologist PhD Constantin MARDARI, from the Botanical Garden "Anastasie Fătu" from Iași, for advice relevant and constructive, for the methodological indications offered, for sharing the experience gained during the studies carried out in the field, but also for permanent understanding they have shown throughout the elaboration of this paper.

I would also like to give special thanks to PhD Iuliana MOTRESCU, from the Faculty of Horticulture, within the "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" University of Life Sciences in Iași, PhD Irina - Gabriela CARA, PhD Student Constantin LUNGOCI, from the Faculty of Agriculture, within the "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" University of Life Sciences from Iași and PhD Student Mariana RUSU, from the Research Institute for Agriculture and Environment Iași, for her help in the chemical analysis of soil samples and statistical analyzes on vegetation.

Special thanks to PhD Anca MANOLE and her team: PhD Cristian BANCIU, PhD Student Mihnea VLADIMIRESCU, and PhD Student Ioana PAICĂ, from the Department of Developmental Biology, within the Bucharest Institute of Biology of the Romanian Academy, for performing the molecular screening analysis.

I would especially like to thank Associate Professor PhD Alexandru Sabin BĂDĂRĂU, from the Faculty of Environmental Science and Engineering, from the "Babeş-Bolyai" University of Cluj-Napoca, for the help offered in traveling and collecting data from the Transylvania region, which were helpful for my chorological analysis of C. tataria species, but also for advice, ideas offered with generosity and trust. I would also like to thank my colleague Vlad NEAGA, who helped and accompanied me in my travels in Moldova, Muntenia, and Transylvania, but also Mihai Pop, from the Faculty of Environmental Science and Engineering, from the "Babeş-Bolyai" University of Cluj-Napoca, who accompanied me on trips to Transylvania.

At the same time, I would also like to thank the biologist PhD Student Paul-Marian SZATMARI, a researcher at the Biological Research Center, Botanical Garden "Vasile Fati" Jibou, Sălaj County, for help in translating information on the species Crambe tataria, from the Hungarian language.

I would also like to thank my colleague PhD Student Ștefan OLARU, from the Electron Microscopy Laboratory of the Faculty of Biology, within the "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, who prepared the samples and took microphotographs.

I would also like to thank PhD Student Alexandra ZOTICA, from the "Cristofor Simionescu" Faculty of Chemical Engineering and Environmental Protection, from the "Gheorghe Asachi" Technical University of Iaşi, PhD Student Mădălina VICIRIUC, from the Faculty of Biology, within the "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iaşi and the biologist Alexandru PINTILIOAIE, from the Marine Biological Station "Prof. Dr. Ioan Borcea" from Agigea, for the discussions and advice given.

I would also like to thank the members of the thesis evaluation committee for their advice and suggestions.

In particular, I would like to express my complete gratitude to my parents, Dorina and Ștefan. They understood, encouraged, and supported me unconditionally during my doctoral internship and especially throughout my life so far. I would also like to express my gratitude, respect, and thanks to my sister Mariana CHIRILĂ, who was always with me, who understood and motivated me permanently during the doctoral internship, and who accompanied me in all the expeditions made in the field. At the same time, I would like to thank my brother Ionuţ CHIRILĂ, for the help offered in the expeditions made to Moldova.

INTRODUCTION

In the last decade, grassland communities have become one of the most endangered ecosystems in Europe. This biome represents over 40.00% of the earth's surface, with various endangered plant species. In this context, identifying conservation measures for these species is a priority area of study (CONANT *et al.*, 2017).

In the context of the above, one of the endangered plant species of the Brassicaceae family is *Crambe tataria* Sebeók, a species present in the Continental, Pannonian, Pontic, and Steppe biogeographical regions of Romania (SÂRBU *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, this species is considered a thermophilic relict in Europe (SOÓ, 1942) and a steppe postglacial relict in Romania (BÉRES, 1996).

C. tataria is a rare species in the xerophilous grasslands of Central Europe, South-Eastern Europe, and Western Siberia. In Romania, the species is spread mainly in the regions of North-East (Moldova), North-West (Transylvania), Center (Transylvania), and South-East (Muntenia), on sunny hills and slopes with moderately steep slopes. The species can grow less often in orchards, agricultural lands, vineyards, and mowed grasslands.

In Romania, the species was reported in 1816 in Sibiu County. From then until now, the gradual decrease in the number and size of populations has been visible. Thus, 70.00% of the local populations known in the literature have not been identified in the last three decades. The main cause of the extinction of local populations is the degradation and fragmentation of habitats, which is caused indirectly and directly by human activities.

The problem of the study consists of the distribution of the species, the eco-coenotic conditions, and the genetic structure of the species C. *tataria*. Thus, the species is endangered by inadequate grassland management, in which its habitats face various anthropogenic factors. Compared to field studies, the largest populations were identified in Cluj, Iași, Mureș, and Vaslui counties. Most of these populations are in protected areas and include herds ranging from a few individuals to several hundred individuals.

Identifying the eco-coenotic conditions and the genetic structure of *C*. *tataria* populations is essential because they can explain the probabilities of their survival in current habitat conditions and their ability to occupy new favorable habitats. Populations with high and low genetic diversity can also be identified, and the factors that negatively influence the analyzed species. It is also essential to save this species from extinction, as it provides habitat for many species of insects in the families *Anthribidae* Billberg, 1820; *Chrysomelidae* Latreille, 1802; and *Curculionidae* Latreille, 1802, and food for many species of birds in the family *Passeriformes* Linnaeus, 1758. If no protection measures are developed in the case of the analyzed populations, both *C. tataria* and insects and birds are in danger.

The scientific novelty and originality consisted in the following results: thus, it is the first interdisciplinary study of the species *C. tataria* in Romania, in which were analyzed: the distribution of the species, as well as the causes that determined its decline in Romania; analysis of population characteristics, relationships between them and variables studied; moreover, soil samples were collected to perform chemical soil analyzes; the plant associations and variables studied that influence the floristic composition of *C. tataria* phytocoenoses were identified; also, the ISSR - PCR technique was applied, to evaluate the genetic variation of the investigated populations; and investigations were performed on the micromorphology of leaf areas from *C. tataria*, using scanning electron microscopy (SEM).

PURPOSE, HYPOTHESES AND OBJECTIVES

The purpose of the research undertaken is to identify the eco-coenotic conditions and analyze the genetic structure of some populations of *C. tataria* in Romania to establish measures to protect the species.

In accordance with the purpose and objectives of the study and the information from the specialized literature, it was wanted to verify three hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1 - Currently, *C. tataria* has a lower distribution than that presented in the literature;

Hypothesis 2 - The abiotic variables highlight the variation of the morphology and demography of the species, as well as the variation of the floristic composition of the phytocoenoses of *C. tataria*;

Hypothesis 3 - Genetic and environmental variables, and vegetation characteristics, are prerequisites in establishing measures for conservative management of *C. tataria* populations in Romania.

The following specific objectives have been set to achieve the goal:

Specific objective 1 - Analysis of the distribution of the species and identification of the causes that determine the restriction of *C. tataria* populations in Romania;

Specific objective 2 - Analysis of the characteristics of habitats and populations of *C. tataria* in Romania;

Specific objective 3 - Eco-coenotic analysis of *C. tataria* populations in Romania;

Specific objective 4 - Analysis of the genetic structure of natural populations of *C. tataria*;

Specific objective 5 - Elaboration of measures for the protection of populations of *C. tataria*.

THESIS STRUCTURE

According to the purpose, objectives, and hypotheses, the paper is structured in two distinct parts:

The first part, entitled *Synthesis of data from the literature*, comprises a single chapter, namely **Chapter 1**: *Current state of field research*, which presents a critical analysis of the current context of research on the species *C. tataria* and related information on morphology, biology, ecology, phytocoenology and distribution of the species *C. tataria*.

Part II - The presentation of my research is structured into two chapters: the materials, working methods, and results obtained in this study. In **Chapter 1**: *Materials and methods* have presented the materials used and the methods applied for each objective pursued. **Chapter 2**: *Results and discussions* include the research results on the distribution of the species ecological, coenotic and genetic analyzes of *C. tataria* populations investigated. Finally, conservative management measures for *C. tataria* populations in Romania were developed.

For each of the three chapters was formulated partial conclusions. Finally, the general conclusions, contributions, perspectives for further research, scientific activity, and the list of bibliographic references are presented.

PART I SYNTHESIS OF SPECIALTY LITERATURE CHAPTER 1 CURRENT STATE OF THE RESEARCH IN THE FIELD

INTRODUCTION

In the last three decades, biodiversity has significantly declined locally and globally due to habitat changes induced by climate change and anthropogenic activities (POSCHLOD and WALLISDEVRIES, 2002). One of the plant species threatened by anthropogenic activities is *Crambe tataria*. The current level of knowledge of this species has been analyzed through the literature. It sought to highlight the knowledge about the analyzed species through various studies that describe the flora of Romania.

This chapter presents detailed information on the ecology, morphology, and biology of *C. tataria*. In this context, was analyzed the information published in the literature to achieve the following objectives: (1) identification of pressures and threats on the species *C. tataria*; (2) identification of the conservation status of the species *C. tataria* in Romania; (3) identification of the scientific importance of the species *C. tataria*; and (4) presentation of the current context of studies on the species *C. tataria*.

1.1 General considerations for Crambe tataria

1.1.1 Conservation status

In Europe, according to the criteria mentioned in the International Union for Conservation of Nature's (IUCN) Red List of Threatened Species, the status of *C. tataria* is "least concern" (LC; BILZ *et al.*, 2011). In the Romanian flora, the species is considered vulnerable and rare (OLTEAN *et al.*, 1994). At the European level, this species has protection status through the following national and international legal instruments and agreements: Annex I revised in 2011 of the Bern Convention (Bern Convention, 1998); Annex IIIb of the Government Emergency Ordinance no. 57 of June 20, 2007

(Government Emergency Ordinance, 2007); and is listed in Annexes IIb and IVb of the European Union Habitats Directive (Council of Europe Directive, 1992).

1.1.2 Taxonomy, etymology, and varieties

According to the lineane taxonomic classification and monographs, *C. tataria* is taxonomically classified as follows: regnum Plantae Haeckel 1866; subregnum Tracheophyta Sinnott 1935; phylum Magnoliophyta Cronquist, Takhtajan & W. Zimmermann ex Reveal; class Magnoliopsida Brongn.; subclass Dilleniidae Takhtajan ex Reveal & Takhtajan; superorder Rosanae Takhtajan; order Brassicales Bromhead; family Brassicaceae Burnett; genus *Crambe* L. and species *Crambe tataria* Sebeók (MARHOLD, 2011).

The etymology of the word "Crambe" has its origin in the Greek term, "krambe" = cabbage, which refers to the relatively small flowers with four petals and the specific aroma of edible cabbage leaves (BRÎNZAN *et al.*, 2013). Instead, the Latinized word "tataria, tatarica" = Tatar refers to the Tartars (POPESCU, 2013).

The variability of the species was presented by Traian SĂVULESCU (1955), Rezső SOÓ (1968), Vladimir Leontyevich KOMAROV (1970), etc.

1.1.3 Origin, evolution, and ethnobotany

The history of the tartar goes back in time to antiquity, but its presence was first indicated in a study by the botanist Leonhardus FUCHSIUS in 1542 (HORVÁTH, 2005). The first written mention of the plant name is quoted in 1590 in Szikszai-Fabricius BALÁZS's dictionary (MOLNÁR, 1998a). However, the first scientifically essential reference belongs to Carolus CLUSIUS, a botanist who studied plants in Austria and Pannonia. He mentioned the species in the study "Rariorum plantarum historia" published in 1601 (SEBEÓK, 1781; WILKES, 1810; RAPAICS, 1938; BÉRES, 1996; KERESZTY and GALÁNTAI, 2001).

Alexander Sebeók de Szent-Miklós (Sàndor SEBEÓK) examined the plant based on specimens from the grasslands of Eger (Hungary), which in the end was the subject of his doctoral thesis. Thus Sàndor SEBEÓK is the first descriptor of the species *C. tataria*.

C. tataria has uses in agriculture, food, beekeeping, pharmacology, phytotherapy, human medicine, and ornamental purposes and could lead to new promising sources for the discovery of biofuels, but also in highlighting large amounts of α -linolenic acid (PÂRVU, 2005; PUSHKAROVA *et al.*, 2016).

1.1.4 Morphology, biology, and ontogeny

C. tataria is a bluish-green species that can reach considerable heights (between 60 cm and 150 cm). The root is long, vigorous, fleshy, and sweet, up to 150 cm long. Stem straight or ascending, thick, hairy, and rigidly branched (SEBEÓK, 1781; NYÁRÁDY, 1955; BELDIE, 1977; HORVÁTH, 2005; PÂRVU, 2005).

The leaves are large and have several narrow and elongated or linearelongated lobes. The lobes have a wavy edge with large rounded teeth (NYÁRÁDY, 1955; POPESCU, 2013). The basal leaves that appear first are small, then become rhombic, large, hairy, or pubescent. The inflorescence is rich, spherical, and very large, consisting of dense racemes (DOMOKOS *et al.*, 1999; HORVÁTH, 2005; PÂRVU, 2005; BRÎNZAN *et al.*, 2013). The fruit is an articulated silicula, with a length of 5 mm - 7 mm, with a sterile lower part of approx. 1 mm long and a globular upper (rostral) part, with a length of approx. 4 mm - 5 mm (HORVÁTH, 2005; MIHĂILESCU *et al.*, 2015).

1.1.5 Ecology, phytocoenology, and distribution

C. tataria is a rare species in Europe (KUPRIIANOV *et al.*, 2020), with a discontinuous distribution from the Pannonian Plain to the grasslands north of the Black Sea (European Environment Agency, 2007 - 2012). It is a xerophilous and moderately temophilous species that grow in steppe phytocoenoses (DONIȚĂ *et al.*, 2005; GAFTA and MOUNTFORD, 2008; OROIAN *et al.*, 2017; BĂDĂRĂU, 2019)

1.2 The current context of research on the species C. tataria

Following the evolution and dynamics of research conducted so far in the case of *C. tataria*, it was found that internationally, was observed the most significant interest in the analysis of the species by Hungarian researchers (KERESZTY and GALÁNTAI, 2001; HORVÁTH, 2005), who monitored the populations of *C. tataria* in Hungary and elaboration concrete measures to protect it. Great interest has been given to the species *C. tataria* by Ukrainian (PUSHKAROVA *et al.*, 2019) and Turkish researchers (TARIKAHYA-HACIOĞLU, 2016). They studied the chemical compounds, the antioxidant capacity, the cytogenetic activity, the morpho-anatomical aspects, and the characterization of the habitats in which *C. tataria* can be identified. At the national level, there are a very small number of studies targeting the species *C. tataria*. Most of them focused on general aspects of its description, ecology, chorology, and phytocoenology (OROIAN *et al.*, 2017; BĂDĂRĂU, 2019; MÂNZU *et al.*, 2020).

PARTIAL CONCLUSIONS

C. tataria is a perennial species widespread from the Pannonian Plain to the northern Black Sea steppes, protected by various national and international agreements and conventions. Currently, the habitat of this species is disturbed by some limiting factors, which has led to an unfavorable conservation status of the analyzed species.

Studies in the field of ethnobotany have shown that the species *C*. *tataria* is considered a food plant that can also be used in beekeeping, agriculture, phytotherapy, pharmacology, and decorative purposes, with economic and scientific importance that has attracted the attention of researchers in various fields such as chemistry, biochemistry, molecular biology, ecology, and biotechnology.

The reference works of ecology and phytocoenology have shown that *C. tataria* prefers open microhabitats, alkaline and nutrient-rich soils, and eroded and sunny slopes of steppe and forest-steppe areas.

Regarding the molecular research on genetic relationships, in which were studied different species of the genus *Crambe*, including *C. tataria*, the importance, and usefulness of microsatellites were highlighted, which led to the differentiation and grouping of genotypes in clusters to the generation of clear, amplified, reproducible fragments but also to the generation of non-reproducible fragments.

Regarding the biotechnological research that included the species *C*. *tataria* or other species of the genus *Crambe*, it was found that in the last decade, with the extent of biodiversity conservation measures, the conservation of these species has been considered using different techniques *in vitro* cultures, such as micropropagation, direct organogenesis, and somatic embryogenesis by callus or propagation.

PART II PRESENTATION OF OWN RESEARCH CHAPTER 1 MATERIALS AND METHODS

INTRODUCTION

Over time, the genetic and ecological methods used in various studies have proven to be the most representative techniques, essential for identifying biodiversity conservation measures and in simulating and analyzing long-term dynamics, conservation support, and management *ex situ* and *in situ* conservation actions on rare or declining plant species (ŁASKA and SIENKIEWICZ, 2018). To investigate the mechanisms responsible for the endangerment of an endangered species, widely applied statistical tools can be used, such as regression and multivariate analyses (GHOLAMI and FAKHARI, 2017) or genetic analyses.

The following objectives have been set in this chapter: (1) establishing a method for collecting data on the chorology of the species, population characteristics, and floristic composition of the species *C. tataria*; (2) selection of statistical analyzes on the relationship between floristic composition, population characteristics, and environmental variables; and (3) selection of primers and a molecular method for determining the genetic structure of *C. tataria* populations.

1.1 Selection and delimitation of study areas

In the period 2019-2021, *C. tataria* was analyzed in 15 localities (**Fig. 1.1**): Alexandru cel Bun, Bădeni, Ceplenița, Horlești, Miroslava, Popricani, Tăutești, Rediu, Vânători, Vulturi (Iași County); și Glodeni (Vaslui County), Pâclele (Buzău County), Valea Glodului (Mureș County), Slimnic (Sibiu County) and Bunești (Brașov County).



Fig. 1.1 - The study areas investigated. (vector data source: http://geo-spatial.org/vechi/download/romania-seturi-vectoriale; raster data source: http://srtm.csi.cgiar.org/srtmdata/).

1.2 Analysis of the distribution of the species and identification of the causes that lead to the restriction of the populations in Romania

The purpose of this subchapter was to provide an overview of the presence of *C. tataria* in Romania by confirming and completing the distribution with newly identified populations and identifying the causes of the restriction of *C. tataria* populations. The data collected from both the field and the literature were organized in a tabular and spatial format

1.3 Analysis of the characteristics of populations and habitats of C. tataria

1.3.1 Recording demographic and morphological parameters

In the study, demographic parameters were represented by population density, population size, and the proportion of flowering individuals.

Regarding the biometric analysis of the morphological parameters, it consisted in performing the following measurements: plant height (cm); inflorescence circumference (cm); the number of leaves per plant; leaf length and width (cm).

1.3.2 Chemical analysis of soil samples

1.3.2.1 Collection and preparation of soil samples

Soil sampling was performed in each investigated sample area from a floristic and phytocoenological point of view. These were selectively placed in each investigated locality, from which a single soil sample was taken from its center using a soil sampler. Soil samples were analyzed in the soil chemistry laboratory, from the Research Institute for Agriculture and Environment (ICAM), within the University of Life Sciences "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" in Iaşi.

1.3.2.2 Determination of pH

The pH was determined using a pH meter with a combined electrode, according to SR ISO 10390 (2015). At the analytical balance, 10 g of soil was weighed. The soil was then placed in a Berzelius beaker.

1.3.2.3 Determination of total organic carbon

Determining organic carbon (LĂCĂTUȘU, 2016; LUNGU and RIZEA, 2017) involved weighing the analytical balance of 0.2 g - 1 g of soil. Subsequently, 10 mL of 1 N potassium dichromate solution and then 20 mL of concentrated sulfuric acid were added.

1.3.2.4 Determination of total nitrogen

The Kjeldahl method performed the determination of total nitrogen (LĂCĂTUȘU, 2016; LUNGU and RIZEA, 2017). The first stage of this method was the mineralization of the solution, and the second stage consisted of the dosing of nitrogen.

1.3.2.5 Determination of mobile phosphorus and potassium

In ammonium acetate solution, the spectrometric determination of mobile phosphorus and potassium (LĂCĂTUȘU, 2016; LUNGU and RIZEA, 2017) was performed according to the Egner-Riehm-Domingo method (ISO 11263: 1994). For phosphorus analysis, samples were read six minutes after staining (after Nikolov). For the analysis of potassium, the solution used was that obtained in the case of the study of mobile phosphorus by using ammonium acetate.

1.3.2.6 Determination of X-ray fluorescence chemicals

Determination of total concentrations of chemical elements: aluminium (Al), arsenic (As), calcium (Ca), iron (Fe), magnesium (Mg), oxygen (O), lead (Pb), silicon (Si), and sodium (Na), was performed by the method of X-ray fluorescence (XRF; SR EN 15309: 2007).

1.3.2.7 Statistical analysis of data

Descriptive statistical analysis (mean and standard deviation) was performed in the PAST program version 4.03 (HAMMER *et al.*, 2001). Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney tests were applied to identify significant differences. Regarding the soil, the genetic type of soil was presented, which was identified in QGIS, based on the vector data downloaded from the DSMW database (Digital Soil Map of the World, 2007) and the soil class (Romanian Soil Taxonomy System, 2003).

1.3.3 Analysis of the relationships between population characteristics and environmental variables

1.3.3.1 Setting and selecting variables

An important step in terms of changes in the characteristics of *C*. *tataria* populations depending on the changes in the variables studied was establishing the set of variables. In this context, the set of variables studied includes biotic, abiotic, and anthropogenic variables (**Table 1.1**).

Table 1.1

Variables used in ecological modeling of population characteristics and floristic composition.

No. crt.	Variable	Abbreviation
A	Biotic variables	
1	Vegetation cover (%)	AVEG
2	Vegetation height (cm)	ÎVEG
В	Abiotic variables	
B.1	Topoclimatic variables	
1	Elevation (m)	ALT
2	Slope (°)	Ра
3	Aspect (°)	EXP
B.2	Macroclimatic variables	
4	Annual Mean Temperature (°C)	BIO1
5	Mean Diurnal Range (°C)	BIO2
6	Isothermality	BIO3
7	Temperature Seasonality (%)	BIO4
8	Max Temperature of Warmest Month (°C)	BIO5
9	Min Temperature of Coldest Month (°C)	BIO6
10	Temperature Annual Range (°C)	BIO7
11	Mean Temperature of Wettest Quarter (°C)	BIO8
12	Mean Temperature of Driest Quarter (°C)	BIO9
13	Mean Temperature of Warmest Quarter (°C)	BIO10
14	Mean Temperature of Coldest Quarter (°C)	BIO11
15	Annual Precipitation (mm)	BIO12
16	Precipitation of Wettest Month	BIO13
17	Precipitation of Driest Month	BIO14
18	Precipitation Seasonality	BIO15
19	Precipitation of Wettest Quarter	BIO16
20	Precipitation of Driest Quarter	BIO17
21	Precipitation of Warmest Quarter	BIO18
22	Precipitation of Coldest Quarter	BIO19
B .3	Aridity	
23	De Martonne Aridity Index - annual (mm / °C)	IADM
B.4	Chemical variables	
24	Total aluminum (%)	Al
25	Total arsenic (mg Kg ⁻¹)	As
26	Total nitrogen (%)	N
27	Total calcium (%)	Ca
28	Total organic carbon (%)	C _{org}
29	Total iron (%)	Fe
30	Mobile phosphorus (mg Kg ⁻¹)	Р
31	Total magnesium (%)	Mg
32	Total sodium (%)	Na

No. crt.	Variable	Abbreviation
33	Total oxygen (%)	0
34	рН	pН
35	Total lead (mg Kg ⁻¹)	Pb
36	Mobile potassium (mg Kg ⁻¹)	K
37	Total silicon (%)	Si
С	Anthropic variables	
1	The distance between the nearest locality and the plot (km)	DAL
2	Distance between agricultural land and plot (m)	DTP
3	Type of management	TM

The Pearson correlation matrix was created in the PAST program to select the independent variables. In this context, strongly correlated variables (correlation coefficient > 0.7 or <- 0.7) were identified and removed from the data set (which initially included 24 variables).

1.3.3.2 Realization and selection of generalized linear models

To identify the most important variables that explain the variation of the characteristics of *C. tataria* populations, a method developed by BURNHAM and ANDERSON (2002) was applied, by which, based on AICc (corrected Akaike Information Criterion), the generalized linear models are identified better in describing the relationships between the characteristics of *C. tataria* populations and the biotic and abiotic variables studied.

1.3.3.3 Identifying important variables and testing the relationship with them

For a variable to be considered "important", it must be included in at least half of the models. Subsequently, the relationship between each important environmental variable and the characteristics of *C. tataria* populations was described using simple, linear, or unimodal generalized linear models. The graphs were made in the Minitab Statistical Software version 21.1.0 (Minitab, 2021).

1.4 Investigations on the micromorphology of leaf areas from C. tataria

The plant material was fixed in FEA for the analysis of scanning electron microscopy (SEM; BOZZOLA and RUSSELL, 1999). This analysis consisted of making cross-sections of the leaf, under a stereomicroscope, with a razor blade. Subsequently, the small leaf fragments were dried at a critical point with CO_2 (EMS 850 Critical Point) and then coated with a thin layer of gold particles (30 nm). Finally, the samples were examined by scanning electron microscopy.

1.5 Coenotic analysis of C. tataria populations 1.5.1 Vegetation sampling

For the establishment of phytocoenological relevés, the method of selective sampling was chosen. The sample area size was 100 m2, respecting the recommendations for the study of grasslands in Romania (CRISTEA *et al.*, 2004). At this stage, 47 phytocoenological relevés were carried out (including 213 species). Scientific names were standardized according to the Euro + Med PlantBase database (http://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed/). A quantitative assessment of abundance - dominance (AD) was made using the Braun - Blanquet scale (CRISTEA *et al.*, 2004), and the constancy (K) of the species was also calculated.

1.5.2 Determination of phytocoenoses

The relevés were imported into the JUICE program version 7.0 (TICHÝ, 2002) to analyze the floristic composition. This analysis includes the following steps:

- establishing the matrix associated with the average values of the abundance-dominance intervals transformed by extracting the square root, corresponding to the abundance-dominance (AD) notes given in the field;
- elimination of species that were present only in 1-2 relevés;
- creating the dissimilarity matrix using the Bray-Curtis metric;

- creating the dendrogram using the GINKGO program (BOUXIN, 2005);
- determining the optimal number of clusters, using two indices: Silhouette (ROUSSEEUW, 1987) and Rand corrected (RAND, 1971);
- determination of diagnostic species using the Indicator Value Index (IndVal; DUFRÊNE and LEGENDRE, 1997);
- habitat classification. The habitat code was taken from the expert classification system for habitats (CHYTRÝ *et al.*, 2020).

1.5.3 Analysis of the relationships between floristic composition and environmental variables

The identification of the variables that influence the floristic composition of the phytocoenoses of *C. tataria* involved the following steps: (i) data transformation (by extracting the square root); (ii) performing the Detrended Correspondence Analysis - DCA; (iii) performing the Canonical Correspondence Analysis - CCA. The ordinograms were made in CANOCO version 5 (TER BRAAK and ŠMILAUER, 2012). The abiotic, biotic, and anthropogenic variables mentioned in **Table 1.1** were studied in this analysis.

1.5.4 Description of the type of plant community

Phytocoenological relevés were carried out to describe the type of plant community. The plant associations were identified based on the diagnostic species and the specialized literature (COLDEA *et al.*, 2012; CHIFU *et al.*, 2014).

1.6 Analysis of the genetic structure of the species C. tataria 1.6.1 Plant material collection

The plant material was collected from 15 localities and consisted of basal leaves, young and healthy of *C. tataria*. The plant material was collected in plastic tubes, filled with silica gel, and stored in the refrigerator at a temperature of - 22 $^{\circ}$ C. The number of samples collected varied between 1 and 5.

1.6.2 Highlighting the genetic variability by the ISSR technique *1.6.2.1 DNA extraction*

DNA extraction from samples collected by *C. tataria* was performed using the GenElute Plant Genomic DNA Miniprep kit from Sigma Aldrich (Sigma-Aldrich, G2N70), with 70 reactions. All operations performed for this activity complied with the actual DNA extraction protocol: prepare plant tissue, release DNA, filter lysate, prepare column, bind DNA, wash column, and elute DNA.

1.6.2.2 DNA amplification

The GoTaq G2 Green master Mix kit from Promega (Promega, 2014 - 2018) was used to amplify DNA samples. This activity included four stages: testing and selection of primers, DNA quantification, the composition of the PCR reaction, and the DNA sample amplification protocol.

Regarding the composition of the Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR), it had a total volume of 15 μ L. The amplification conditions of the samples were performed in the Eppendorf Mastercycler gradient device, according to the following program: initial denaturation of ten minutes at 95 °C; 35 cycles of denaturation of 30 s at 95 °C, annealing of the primer 45 seconds at 50 °C, extension 2 minutes at 72 °C; and the final extension of 10 minutes at 72 °C.

1.6.2.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis

Separation and highlighting of polymorphic bands of PCR amplified DNA was performed by agarose gel electrophoresis. In this context, the following operations were performed: agarose gel preparation, preparation of amplified samples, loading of samples on gel, and electrophoresis.

1.6.2.4 Image capture and analysis

The visualization and photography of the electrophoresis gels were made at the Geni transilluminator with the 2 Mpx camera from SynGene. The photos with the gels were introduced in the BioNumerics 8 software platform, with the help of which the 1D images were processed. Data on the calculated genetic distances were exported to the MEGA X (Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis) program version 10 (KUMAR *et al.*, 2015). Within this program, the dendrogram was constructed based on genetic distances.

1.6.2.5 Quantification of genetic diversity

The values of the generated densitometric curves were exported from BioNumerics version 8 and converted into genetic distances in the extension for Microsoft Excel: GenAlEx 6.51b2 (PEAKALL and SMOUSE, 2006, 2012). They were calculated using a template for dominant markers in which the number of individuals, the number of harvest localities, and the number of loci were entered: the genetic distances between the samples of the 15 harvest localities; the Shannon index for each locus, and the average for the 15 harvest localities; expected heterozygosity (He); allelic frequencies for each locus; genetic distance Nei (D), between groups.

PARTIAL CONCLUSIONS

The selective sampling method was applied to update the data on the distribution of *C. tataria* species in Romania and vegetation analysis.

For the eco-coenotic characterization of the study species, the phytocoenological relevés method was used. The data obtained were analyzed both classically and by multivariate statistical analysis techniques.

To identify and describe the relationships between the characteristics of *C. tataria* populations and some environmental variables, data were collected in the same sample areas (relevés - used to characterize vegetation), and regression analyses were used.

The evaluation of the genetic variability at intra and inter-population levels of some populations belonging to the species *C. tataria* was performed with the help of the ISSR-PCR technique. The criteria for selecting this molecular technique are accessibility, a high degree of reproducibility, and automation.

The extraction of DNA from *C. tataria* samples was performed according to a commercial kit, GenElute Plant Genomic DNA Miniprep Kit, of 70 reactions. DNA separation and identification were performed by agarose gel electrophoresis.

For the investigations on the micromorphology of the leaf areas from *C. tataria*, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used.

CHAPTER 2 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

INTRODUCTION

Assessment of eco-coenotic requirements, knowledge of diversity, and genetic structure are prerequisites for developing measures to protect the species *C. tataria*. These conditions are essential in managing *ex situ* and *in situ* conservation actions of *C. tataria* populations.

This study extended the knowledge on the distribution, eco-coenotic conditions, and genetic structure of *C. tataria* populations. As the present study consisted in collecting data at a relatively fast and non-exhaustive rate, being analyzed only some populations, we mention that the data on the species *C. tataria* will be completed through future research. The objectives of the study were the following: (a) analysis of the distribution and identification of the causes that determine the restriction of the populations in Romania; (b) analysis of habitat characteristics, populations, vegetation, and the relationship between them and environmental variables; (c) biometric analysis of some morphological parameters; (d) investigations on the micromorphology of foliar areas from *C. tataria* (SEM); (e) diversity and genetic structure of the species *C. tataria* populations.

2.1 Species distribution analysis

Analysis of old and recent data on the presence of *C. tataria* in Romania (CHIRILĂ, 2021) includes 168 localities (**Fig. 2.1**). According to the total number of populations mentioned in the literature, it was found that the species is common in Transylvania (64.66%), less common in Moldova (26.93%), rare in Muntenia (5.98%), very rare in Dobrogea (1.79%) and Banat (0.59%).



Fig. 2.1 - Distribution of C. tataria populations mentioned in the literature.

In 2019 - 2021, 81 populations were checked (CHIRILĂ, 2021). Although all verified localities had potentially favorable conditions for *C*. *tataria*, it was identified in only 21 localities (**Fig. 2.2**).



Fig. 2.2 - Distribution of confirmed populations of *C. tataria* in the field.

2.1.1 Discussions on the distribution and causes of restriction of the population

2.1.1.1 Distribution of the species in Transylvania

In Transylvania, most populations are outside the protected areas (75.00%), and 25.00% are inside the protected areas.

2.1.1.2 Distribution of the species in Moldova

In Moldova, most populations are outside protected areas (62.23%), and 37.77% are inside protected areas.

2.1.1.3 Distribution of the species in Muntenia

In Muntenia, *C. tataria* was identified in Pâclele (Buzău County), at an elevation of 271 m. Shrubs limit the spread of the species in the grasslands of this site.

2.2 Habitat characteristics analysis 2.2.1 Soil type characterization

In the analyzed localities, the following genetic soil types were identified: luvic phaeozem in Muntenia and Transylvania; calcium chernozem in Moldova; gleic luvisol in Moldova and Transylvania; and orthic luvisol in Moldova.

2.2.2 Soil analysis: chemical parameters 2.2.2.1 Variation in pH and total organic carbon

The soil reaction was weakly alkaline, and the total organic carbon concentration in the soil was low (**Fig. 2.3**).

2.2.2.2 Variation of secondary macronutrients (Ca and Mg)

The calcium (Ca) and magnesium concentrations determined for each sample surface are low in the analyzed soils (**Fig. 2.3**).

2.2.2.3 Variation of primary macronutrients (N, P, and K)

Analysis of primary macronutrients showed that 86.95% of the values fall into the category of "good" soils in the case of nitrogen, 43.47% of the values fall into the category of "very good" soils in the case of phosphorus, and 80.85% of the values fall into the category of "very good" soils in the case of potassium (**Fig. 2.3**).

2.2.2.4 Heavy metal variation (Al, As, Pb and Fe)

In the analyzed soils, the aluminum and iron concentrations were low, and the concentrations of arsenic and lead were high (**Fig. 2.3**).

2.2.2.5 Variation of silicon, oxygen, and sodium

In the analyzed plots, the soils are rich in silicon and poor in oxygen and sodium (Fig. 2.3).



Fig. 2.3 - Variation of soil chemical properties. Localities: IS A (Iași Alexandru cel Bun), IS B (Iași Bădeni), IS C (Iași Ceplenița), IS H (Iași Horlești), IS M (Iași Miroslava), IS P (Iași Popricani), IS T (Iași Tăutești), IS R (Iași Rediu), IS VT (Iași Vânători), IS VL (Iași Vulturi), VS G (Vaslui Glodeni), BV B (Brașov Bunești), MS VG (Mureș Valea Glodului), SB S (Sibiu Slimnic), BZ P (Buzău Pâclele).

2.2.3 Discussions on habitat characteristics

The investigated areas are characterized by zonal soils and soils that have a subzonal character. The low concentration of organic carbon is due to precipitation and temperatures (ZHAO *et al.*, 2017). Regarding arsenic, its growth in the soil is due to the use of pesticides in controlling plant pests (MISSIMER *et al.*, 2018), and the cause of high concentrations of lead is due to human activities (FAHR *et al.*, 2013). The silicon concentration in the soil increases due to pH, organic matter, etc. (ANGGRIA *et al.*, 2020).

The increase of primary (nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium) and secondary (calcium) macronutrients in the analyzed soils may be due to several factors: humus and water content, temperature, soil pH, etc. (JACKSON, 2014). The decrease in the concentration of magnesium and iron in the soil is due to the pH of the soil (JONES, 2020). The decrease in aluminum is due to the increase in pH (SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA *et al.*, 2021). Also, soil's oxygen presence is limited by soil compaction and precipitation (NEIRA *et al.*, 2015).

2.3 Analysis of population characteristics2.3.1 Analysis of demographic parameters

The sample size selected at the national level and analyzed in this paper was 1.863 individuals, with an average of 88.71 individuals per population. Compared to elevation, it was found that with the increase of this parameter, there was a decrease in the number of individuals (**Fig. 2.4**). The population density was estimated at 5.64 individuals per sample area. Within the analyzed populations, the identified individuals were grouped in the following categories: vegetative individuals (51.26%), flowering individuals (43.10%), and individuals with leaves and flowers (5.63%).



Fig. 2.4 - The number of individuals analyzed and the elevation.

2.3.2 Biometric analysis of some morphological parameters

2.3.2.1 Plant height

The height of the plant recorded values between 39.00 cm and 67.31 cm. Most values regarding the height of the plant are in the range of 40 cm - 60 cm (**Fig. 2.5**).



Fig. 2.5 - The concentration of plant height values: point in the center of the box - median; cassette length - interquartile range; the length of the line extending out of the box - the interval.

2.3.2.2 Number of leaves per plant

The lowest average value was measured in the population from Horleşti (2.03), and the highest was measured in the individuals from Valea Glodului (10.33). Most values regarding the number of leaves are in the range of 1 - 2.5 (**Fig. 2.6**).

2.3.2.3 Leaf size

The lowest average value was measured in the population from Horleşti (2.03), and the highest was measured in the individuals from Valea Glodului (10.33). Most values regarding the number of leaves are 1 - 2.5 (**Fig. 2.7**). Regarding the width of the leaf, it varies between 10.5 cm (population from Bădeni) and 23.27 cm (population from Bunești). Most values regarding the leaf width are in the range of 14 cm - 23 cm (**Fig. 2.8**).

2.3.2.4 Inflorescence circumference

The highest average was recorded in the population from Glodeni (233 cm), and the lowest was measured in the individuals of the population from Bădeni (62 cm). Most of the recorded values are in the range of 150 cm - 200 cm (**Fig. 2.9**).



Fig. 2.6 - The concentration of values on the number of leaves/plant: point in the center of the box - median; cassette length - interquartile range; the length of the line extending out of the box - the interval.



Fig. 2.7 - The concentration of values on leaf length: point in the center of the box - median; cassette length - interquartile range; the length of the line extending out of the box - the interval.



Fig. 2.8 - The concentration of leaf width values: point in the center of the box - median; cassette length - interquartile range; the length of the line extending out of the box - the interval.



Fig. 2.9 - The concentration of values on the inflorescence circumference: point in the center of the box - median; cassette length - interquartile range; the length of the line extending out of the box - the interval.

2.3.3 Discussions on population characteristics

According to the literature (BALL, 1964), the height of *C. tataria* plants varies from 60 cm to 150 cm, depending on the season and population density. The study by HEWITSON (2020) showed that plants that grow in drought conditions have low values regarding the number of leaves and leaf size. According to RIAZ *et al.* (2015), a higher number of leaves per plant may be due to good environmental adaptation and the availability of nitrogen concentration in the growing substrate.

2.4 Analysis of the relationships between population characteristics and environmental variables 2.4.1 The relationship between plant height and environmental variables

The height of the plant (**Fig. 2.10**) decreases simultaneously with the increase of vegetation cover and calcium concentration and increases with the rise of lead concentration. The relationship between plant height and type of management is positive in grazed grasslands and negative in non-grazed grasslands.



Fig. 2.10 - The relationship between plant height and vegetation cover (A), calcium - Ca (B) and lead - Pb (C).

2.4.2 The relationship between the number of individuals per sample area and the environmental variables

The relationship between the number of individuals and silicon is of the polynomial type of degree II. Thus, the increase of the silicon concentration determines the rise in the number of individuals up to the value of 24.10 %. Increasing the concentration of silicon above this value causes a decrease in the number of individuals. The relationships between the number of individuals and pH, vegetation cover, and slope are linearly positive (**Fig**. **2.11**).



Fig. 2.11 - Relationship between the number of individuals and silicon - Si (A), pH (B), vegetation cover (C), and slope (D).

2.4.3 The relationship between inflorescence circumference and environmental variables

The relationships between the inflorescence circumference and phosphorus, the average annual temperature, pH, and the distance between the nearest locality and the sample area are linearly positive, and the relationship between the circumference of the inflorescence and the height of vegetation is linearly negative (**Fig. 2.12**).

2.4.4 The relationship between the number of leaves per plant and environmental variables

The relationship between the number of leaves and silicon is of the second-degree polynomial type. The increase of the silicon concentration determines the decrease of the number of leaves per plant up to the value of 24.70%. Regarding the relationship between the number of leaves and calcium, it is linearly negative (**Fig. 2.13**).



Fig. 2.12 - Relationship between inflorescence circumference and phosphorus - P(A), average annual temperature (B), vegetation height (C), pH (D), and distance between nearest locality



 $Fig.\ 2.13\ \text{-}\ The\ relationship\ between\ the\ number\ of\ leaves\ and\ silicon\ \text{-}\ Si\ (A)\ and\ calcium\ \text{-}\ Ca\ (B).$

2.4.5 The relationship between the proportion of flowering individuals and environmental variables

The variation in the proportion of flowering individuals was explained negatively by the cover and height of the vegetation and positively by the mean annual temperature (**Fig. 2.14**).



Fig. 2.14 - The relationship between the proportion of flowering individuals and vegetation cover (A), the mean annual temperature (B), and the height of vegetation (C).

2.4.6 The relationship between leaf size and environmental variables

The relationship between leaf size and phosphorus is linearly positive. The relationship between leaf size and management type is positive in non-grazed grasslands and negative in grazed grasslands (**Fig. 2.15**).



Fig. 2.15 - The relationship between leaf length (A), leaf width (B), and phosphorus.

2.4.7 Discussions on the relationship between population characteristics and environmental variables

2.4.7.1 The relationship between population characteristics and soil chemical variables

Although in the literature (HORVÁTH, 2005; PUSHKAROVA *et al.*, 2016) it is mentioned that the species *C. tataria* prefers soils with a high calcium content, it has been shown that the presence of a high concentration of calcium in the soil (> 6%), had a negative influence on plant height and the number of leaves per plant. This may be due to interactions with other nutrients and/or chemicals dissolved in the soil solution and to a decrease in mean annual precipitation (WHITE şi BROADLEY, 2003).

Regarding the lead concentration in the soil, its increase has led to an increase in plant height, but not in the case of population size and the proportion of flowering individuals, in which lead has a negative effect on them. SHU *et al.* (2014) showed that lead had a stimulating effect on the height of seedlings of *Jatropha curcas* L. This stimulating effect is related to the hormetic impact, which shows a positive response to exposure to a low level of a toxic substance (JALAL *et al.*, 2021).

The presence of silicon in a high concentration in the soils of the analyzed grasslands is due to the smoke from the rubber burns, and the fact that most of the grasslands are grazed. According to MCNAUGHTON and TARRANTS (1983), in soils in grazed areas, silicon is found in high concentrations. In the case of phosphorus, we can indicate that a lower concentration of phosphorus in the soil would affect the increase in leaf size and inflorescence. This effect can be explained by cell division and expansion (KIM and LI, 2016). The importance of phosphorus was also demonstrated in the study by SUGIER *et al.* (2019), which showed a positive relationship between the size of *Arnica montana* L. leaves and phosphorus.

2.4.7.2 The relationship between population characteristics and the structural characteristics of plant communities

The negative correlation between plant height and vegetation cover is explained by the competition of plant species and the shading of grasslands with woody species. The results obtained correspond to previous studies (NAGASHIMA and HIKOSAKA, 2011), in which it was shown that shaded plants provide fewer resources to plant height and more resources to leaves. The high nitrogen content explains the negative correlation between the proportion of flowering individuals and vegetation cover in the soil.

2.4.7.3 The relationship between population characteristics and anthropogenic variables

The grazed grasslands had a positive influence on the height of the plant. Although mechanized mowing has rarely been observed in the grasslands analyzed, it could have a negative impact on *C. tataria* species. The increase in leaf size and plant height also depends on the concentration of nutrients in the soil.

2.4.7.4 The relationship between population characteristics and abiotic variables

The positive correlation between the number of individuals and the slope could be explained by aridity (YANG *et al.*, 2020). Regarding bioclimatic variables, it was shown that the variation of the proportion of flowering individuals and the circumference of the inflorescence was best explained by the mean annual temperature.

2.5 Coenotic analysis

2.5.1 Syntaxonomic analysis

The phytocoenoses of the identified associations are framed from the phytocoenological point of view in the classes *Festuco-Brometea* and *Molinio-Arrhenatheretea*.

2.5.2 Interpretation of numerical analyzes of the floristic composition

After making the dendrogram, which resulted from applying the hierarchical agglomerative clustering algorithm, it was cut into nine partitions with ten clusters (**Fig. 2.16**), which were subsequently analyzed using the corrected Rand and Silhouette indices.



Fig. 2.16 - Cluster dendrogram by applying the flexible beta algorithm of phytocoenological releves from the 15 investigated localities.

Following the corrected Rand index application, it was found that partitions 7 with 8 clusters have the highest value (0.961). After calculating the Silhouette index, it was found that the partition with 7 clusters has the maximum value (0.31403). Therefore, with the help of these indices, the partition with 7 clusters was taken into account for the syntaxonomic level of association.

2.5.3 Habitat characterization

C. tataria (**Photo. 2.1**) was identified in two classes of vegetation: the class *Festuco-Brometea* (xerophilous grasslands) and the class *Molinio-Arrhenatheretea* (mesophilous grasslands). Of these two habitat types, it has been observed that the analyzed species prefers xerophilous grasslands. These meadows are characterized by moderate mean annual temperatures, higher

silicon, arsenic, lead concentrations, lower elevation, and mean annual precipitation compared to mesophilic grasslands. Vegetation coverage was, on average, 95.00%, and the richness of vascular plant species was, on average, 47 species per 100 m^2 .



Photo. 2.1 - Flowering (A) and vegetative (B) specimens of C. tataria (original photo).

The alliances in which the identified plant associations were included were the following: *Festucion valesiacae* Klika 1931, *Stipion lessingianae* Soó 1947, *Cirsio - Brachypodion pinnati* Hadač et Klika in Klika et Hadač 1944 and *Arrhenatherion* Koch 1926.

2.5.4 Description of plant associations

Cluster 1: Association *Taraxaco serotinae - Festucetum valesiacae* (Burduja *et al.* 1956, Răvăruț *et al.* 1956) Sârbu, Coldea et Chifu 1999.

Location: This association is spread in the meadows from Alexandru cel Bun, Bădeni, Ceplenița, Popricani, Rediu, Vulturi, Tăutești (Iași County) and Glodeni (Vaslui County; **Photo. 2.2**).

Stationary conditions: Phytocoenoses of *Festuca valesiaca* Gaudin have been identified on arid coasts, with an elevation between 90 m and 244 m, with variable inclinations, from 4 $^{\circ}$ to 22.3 $^{\circ}$. The mean annual precipitation was between 545 mm and 569 mm, and the mean annual temperature was 9.16 $^{\circ}$ C to 9.75 $^{\circ}$ C.



Photo. 2.2 - Taraxaco serotinae - Festucetum valesiacae (A) and association's location (B). Vegetation structure: The upper layer of vegetation was represented by the species Achillea pannonica Scheele, Centaurea orientalis L., etc., and the middle layer was formed by plant species: Adonis vernalis L., Ajuga laxmannii (Murray) Benth. etc. The species of small plants (20 cm - 25 cm) which form the lower layer are represented by Plantago lanceolata L., Thymus pannonicus L., etc.

Floristic and phytocoenological composition: The xerophilous character is illustrated both by the edifying species *Festuca valesiaca* and by species phytocoenologically included in the alliance *Jurineo arachnoideae* - *Euphorbion stepposae* and the order *Festucetalia valesiacae*.

Ecological conditions: According to ecological indices, xeromesophilic (68.46%), mesothermal (44.54%), and weakly alkaline (39.63%) species predominate. Bioform analysis revealed the presence of hemicryptophyte species (68.69%), and the spectrum of geoelements is dominated by Eurasian elements (46.95%).

Cluster 2: Association *Medicagini minimae - Festucetum valesiacae* Wagner 1941

Location: Phytocoenoses of *Festuca valesiaca* were identified on the sunny hills between Bunești and Viscri (Brașov County; **Photo. 2.3**).



Photo. 2.3 - Medicagini minimae - Festucetum valesiacae (A) and association's location (B).

Stationary conditions: The analyzed association is spread at high elevation (640 m), where the mean annual precipitation is 606 mm, and the mean annual temperature is 6.92 °C. Phytocoenoses of *Festuca valesiaca* grow on sunny coasts, with a south-eastern aspect, where the slope has values between 13.6 ° and 21.9 °.

Vegetation structure: The upper layer of vegetation was represented by *Allium scorodoprasum* L. etc., and the middle layer was represented by the species *Cytisus albus* Hacq., *Festuca valesiaca*, etc. In the lower layer, fewer plant species were observed (*Convolvulus arvensis* L., etc.).

Floristic and phytocoenological composition: The general coverage achieved by the species within the phytocoenoses is between 98.00% and 100%. From the phytocoenological point of view, in the floristic composition, besides the edifying species (*Festuca valesiaca*), the species belonging to the classes *Festuco-Brometea*, *Quercetea pubescentis*, and *Rhamno-Prunetea*.

Ecological conditions: The diversity of the floristic composition is also reflected in the spectrum of the main ecological indices in which the mesoxerophilic (62.16%), mesothermal (54.05%), and weakly alkaline (43.24%) species are highlighted. Bioform analysis revealed the presence of hemicryptophyte species (52.63%), and the spectrum of geoelements is dominated by European elements (45.94%). **Cluster 3**: Association *Thymo pannonici - Chrysopogonetum grylli* Doniță *et al.* 1992

Location: Phytocoenoses of *Chrysopogon gryllus* have been identified in the grasslands in the northern part of Pâclele (Buzău County; **Photo. 2.4**).



Photo. 2.4 - Thymo pannonici - Chrysopogonetum grylli (A) and association's location (B).

Stationary conditions: The phytocoenoses of the association are found at elevations with values between 205 m and 337 m. The mean annual precipitations showed values between 540 mm and 543 mm, and the mean annual temperature was between 9.69 $^{\circ}$ C and 9.72 $^{\circ}$ C. Regarding the relief, the analyzed phytocoenoses were identified on sunny slopes with moderate inclination.

Vegetation structure: Species *Chrysopogon gryllus*, *Bothriochloa ischaemum* (L.) Keng, *Brachypodium pinnatum* (L.) P. Beauv. etc. forms the upper layer of vegetation, and the lower layer of vegetation is represented by *Adonis vernalis*, *Carex humilis*, etc.

Floristic and phytocoenological composition: The general vegetation cover was, on average, 95.66%. The quantitatively asserted species are *Chrysopogon gryllus* and *Stipa tirsa*. Also, the species *Achillea nobilis* L., *Adonis vernalis*, etc., are highlighted by the constant character in the relevés. By the presence of bushes in the vicinity of the relevés carried out in Pâclele

locality, it is possible to explain the presence of some species characteristic of the classes *Rhamno - Prunetea* and *Trifolio - Geranietea*.

Ecological conditions: The analysis of ecological indices revealed the predominance of meso-xerophilous (42.3%), thermophilic (35.06%), and weak-alkaline (41.02%) species. The spectrum of bioforms highlights the dominance of hemicryptophytes (70.37%), and the analysis of geoelements revealed the dominance of Eurasian elements (45.67%).

Cluster 4: Association Festuco rupicolae - Brachypodietum pinnati Mahn 1965

Location: The association was identified only in the grasslands of Valea Glodului (Mureș County; **Photo. 2.5**).



Photo. 2.5 - Festuco rupicolae - Brachypodietum pinnati (A) and association's location (B).

Stationary conditions: In the researched area, the altitudinal gap was between 472 m and 473 m. The mean annual precipitation was 615 mm, and the mean annual temperature was 8.50 °C. From the point of view of relief, the analyzed association prefers slopes with a north-eastern orientation and a slope inclination between 5.3 ° and 27.8 °.

Vegetation structure: The upper layer of the analyzed phytocoenoses was represented by *Arrhenatherum elatius*, *Brachypodium pinnatum*, etc., and the lower layer was represented by *Ajuga laxmannii*, *Arabis hirsuta* (L.) Scop. etc.

Floristic and phytocoenological composition: Two relevés were included in this association, and 70 species were identified to achieve 100% coverage. The floristic composition is very varied and rich, in which an important percentage has the species characteristic of the alliance *Festucion valesiacae*.

Ecological conditions: The analysis of ecological indices showed the predominance of meso-xerophilous (61.76%), mesothermal (52.94%), and weakly alkaline (42.64%) species. The spectrum of bioforms highlights the predominance of hemicryptophyte species (69.56%), and the spectrum of geoelements revealed the predominance of Eurasian species (54.28%)

Cluster 5: Association *Elytrigietum hispidi* (Dihoru 1970). Popescu et Sanda 1988

Location: Representative phytocoenoses of this association have been identified in some grasslands in Slimnic (Sibiu County; **Photo. 2.6**).



Photo. 2.6 - Elytrigietum hispidi (A) and association's location (B).

Stationary conditions: The phytocoenoses of the association were found at an elevation between 481 m and 485 m in areas with moderate mean annual precipitation, which varies between 561 mm and 616 mm, and with moderate mean annual temperatures between 8.53 °C and 9.45 °C.

Vegetation structure: The species in the upper layer showed heights between 30 m and 65 m. The most representative species are: *Achillea collina*,

Centaurea scabiosa L. etc. The lower layer is well individualized by *Carex humilis, Convolvulus arvensis, Galium verum* L., etc.

Floristic and phytocoenological composition: The physiognomy of the association is illustrated by *Elytrigia intermedia*, which is distinguished by a high cover, along with which grow many species typical of the alliance *Festucion valesiacae* and the order *Festucetalia valesiacae*.

Ecological conditions: Phytocoenoses of *Elytrigia intermedia* are characterized by the presence, with considerable frequencies of meso-xerophilous (66.99%), mesothermal (43.00%), and weakly alkaline (38.23%) species. The analysis of bioforms revealed the predominance of hemicryptophyte species (60.56%), and the study of geoelements revealed the predominance of Eurasian species (56.33%).

Cluster 6: Association Arrhenatheretum elatioris Br.-Bl. ex Scherrer 1925

Location: The phytocoenoses of the analyzed association were identified on Zackel hill, in Slimnic locality (Sibiu County; **Photo. 2.7**).



Photo. 2.7 - Arrhenatheretum elatioris (A) and association's location (B).

Stationary conditions: Within the analyzed vegetal association, the northeastern aspect predominates, in which the slope is slightly inclined (11.8 °). This association was also identified at an elevation of 485 m. **Vegetation structure**: The upper layer of the analyzed vegetation is represented by *Brachypodium pinnatum* etc., and the lower layer is represented by the species *Carex humilis, Convolvulus arvensis*, etc.

Floristic and phytocoenological composition: The floristic composition is rich in species, among which there is a significant nucleus of species characteristic of the alliance *Festucion valesiacae*, the order *Festucetalia valesiacae*, and the class *Festuco-Brometea*.

Ecological conditions: The ecological analysis demonstrated the predominance of meso-xerophilous (65.51%), mesothermal (58.62%), and euriacidophilous (31.03%) species. The spectrum of bioforms is dominated by hemicryptophyte species (58.62%), and the spectrum of geoelements revealed the predominance of Eurasian species (62.06%).

Cluster 7: Association *Jurineo arachnoideae - Stipetum lessingianae* (Dobrescu 1974) Chifu, Mânzu et Zamfirescu 2006.

Location: The analyzed association was identified in the grasslands from Horlești, Miroslava, Popricani, Rediu, Tăutești and Vânători localities (Iași County; **Photo. 2.8**).



Photo. 2.8 - Jurineo arachnoideae - Stipetum lessingianae (A) and association's location (B).

Vegetation structure: The upper layer of vegetation was represented by *Phragmites australis* etc., and the lower layer included the species *Fragaria viridis* Weston, *Polygala major* Jacq. etc

Floristic and phytocoenological composition: The floristic composition is rich, with a coverage of 95.44%. Numerous species characteristic of the alliance *Stipion lessingianae* and the order *Festucetalia valesiacae* have been identified, which form the main coenotic background of the analyzed association.

Ecological conditions: The analysis of ecological indices showed the predominance of meso-xerophilous (70.00%), thermophilic (43.92%), and weakly alkaline (43.51%) species. The analysis of bioforms highlights the dominance of hemicryptophytes (60.57%), and regarding geoelements, Eurasian elements predominate (41.34%).

2.6 Analysis of the relationships between the floristic composition and the environmental variables 2.6.1 Detrended Correspondence Analysis (DCA)

In the Detrended correspondence analysis (DCA), the position of the 47 relevés can be observed spatially, ordered according to the similarity of the floristic composition along the axes of the ordinogram (**Fig. 2.17**).



Fig. 2.17 - Ordonation the DCA of the 47 relevés: light blue = Taraxaco serotinae - Festucetum valesiacae association, yellow = Medicagini minimae - Festucetum valesiacae association, purple = Thymo pannonici - Chrysopogonetum grylli association, gray = Festuco rupicolae - Brachypodietum pinnati association, light green = Elytrigietum hispidi association, red = Arrhenatheretum elatioris association, dark blue = Jurineo arachnoideae - Stipetum lessingianae association.

Following the Detrended correspondence analysis (DCA), it was found that DCA 1 was considered the most important axis (**Table 2.1**).

Summary of the Detrended correspondence analysis on the 47 relevés.				
	DCA 1	DCA 2	DCA 3	DCA 4
Eigenvalue	0.4658	0.216	0.1576	0.092
Explained variation (cumulative)	17.05	24.95	30.72	34.08
Gradient length	3.36	2.32	2.87	1.97
Pseudo-canonical correlation	0.9685	0.9484	0.6903	0.9103

2.6.2 Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA)

Canonical Correspondence Analysis showed that the most important variables that significantly explained the variation of the floristic composition were the mean annual precipitation (BIO12) and the elevation (**Table 2.2**).

Table 2.2

CCA results highlighting the effect of abiotic/biotic/anthropogenic variables on the floristic composition of communities with *C. tataria* investigated.

Variables	Explain %	Contribution %	pseudo-F	p value	Adjusted p value
Mean annual precipitation	10.5	15.2	5.3	0.0001	0.0026
Elevation	6.5	9.4	3.4	0.0002	0.0052
Mean annual temperature	6.9	10.1	3.9	0.0002	0.0052
Calcium	4.5	6.5	2.6	0.0002	0.0052
Type of management	3.3	4.9	2	0.0317	0.8242

2.6.3 The relationship between the floristic composition and the environmental variables

The first DCA axis was positively correlated with the mean annual precipitation (BIO12), elevation and calcium concentration and negatively with the mean annual temperature (BIO1). In this context, a separation can be observed between the xerophilous communities of *Taraxaco serotinae* - *Festucetum valesiacae*, which are characterized by elevation (169 m) and low mean annual precipitation (558 mm), moderate slopes (11 °), high mean annual temperatures (9.4 °C) and rich in the number of species (39 species per 100 m²), compared to the mesophilic communities of *Arrhenatheretum elatioris*.

• Mean annual precipitation

The mean annual precipitation (BIO12) was the most important variable that explained 10.5% of the variation of the floristic composition. The increase in precipitation quantity determines the change of the floristic composition of the analyzed phytocoenoses, from *Stipa lessingiana* grasslands, etc., that grow on arid lands in *Arrhenatherum elatius* grasslands on higher humidity lands.

• Elevation

The second variable was elevation, which explained 6.5% of the variation of the floristic composition. The altitudinal gap varied from 90 m in the xerophilous communities of *Taraxaco serotinae - Festucetum valesiacae*, at an elevation of 485 m, in mesophilic communities of *Arrhenatheretum elatioris*.

• Mean annual temperature

The mean annual temperature (BIO1) explained 6.9% of the variation of the floristic composition. The highest temperature values were recorded in the communities of *Thymo pannonici* - *Chrysopogonetum grylli* (9.70 °C), and the lowest values were recorded in the communities of *Medicagini minimae* - *Festucetum valesiacae* (6.92 °C).

• Calcium

The calcium concentration explained 4.5% of the variation of the floristic composition. In this context, the lowest values were observed in the association *Festuco rupicolae - Brachypodietum pinnati* (1.09%), and the highest values were recorded in the association *Elytrigietum hispidi* (3.76%)

2.6.4 Habitat discussions

C. tataria grows in a limited variety of plant communities. Thus, in the investigated regions (Moldova, Muntenia, and Transylvania), the habitat

types in which the species *C. tataria* was observed are similar to those described in the literature (BĂDĂRĂU, 2001; DONIȚĂ *et al.*, 2005; GAFTA and MOUNTFORD, 2008; KELL, 2011).

In this study, it was shown that the species *C. tataria* grows in two types of habitats: xerophilous grasslands and mesophilic grasslands. Of these habitats, the study's results indicated that xerophilous grasslands are the preferred habitat of the analyzed species.

2.7 Investigations on the micromorphology of leaf areas2.7.1 The lower epidermis of the leaf

The presence of rare unicellular multicellular or unicellular tectors hairs is observed. The tectors hairs and epicuticular wax coexist; tectors hairs are very rare.

2.7.2 The upper epidermis of the leaf

The presence of rare, long, single-celled tectors hairs was observed. The presence of secretory hairs with bicellular glands exposed by cuticle damage was identified.

2.8 Diversity and genetic structure of the species C. tataria 2.8.1 DNA extraction

The concentrations of the DNA extracts showed values between 14 μ g / mL and 144.9 μ g / mL, and the purity of the DNA samples, measured as A260 / A280, was between 1.52 and 2.07.

2.8.2 DNA amplification

Following the testing of the 43 primers, the amplification and reproducibility of the polymorphic fragments of *C. tataria* were performed by only five ISSR primers (UBC no. 814, 823, 828, 854, and 891). These primers generated 67 polymorphic bands, 100%.

2.8.3 Parameters of genetic diversity

The average share of polymorphic bands was 45.67%. The average value for the expected heterozygosity (H_e) was 0.169, which reveals a homozygous tendency, the highest probability for heterozygous loci being highlighted for Vulturi with a value of H_e = 0.283. The Shannon index (H) was calculated to be 0.251, indicating a moderate degree of diversity, and the genetic distance of Nei (d) amounted to 0.196, suggesting a trend towards uniformity and a low degree of genetic differentiation.

2.8.4 Dendrogram analysis

Based on the genetic distances, a UPGMA dendrogram was generated, which highlights distinct groups of samples from different collection locations:

Cluster 1 included samples from the North-East region of Romania: Miroslava (P1, P2, P3, and P4), Rediu (P5, P6, P7, and P8), and Vulturi (P9, P10, P11, and P12). In this group, there are two large subgroups, which highlight an exchange of genetic material between the populations of Rediu and Vulturi and an earlier differentiation of the samples from Miroslava (**Fig. 2.18**).



Fig. 2.18 - Cluster 1: dendrogram (A) and harvesting locations (B).

Cluster 2 included the samples from Vânători (P31 and P32), which indicates a high degree of differentiation from the rest of the samples in Iași County. This group was characterized by the lowest values of genetic diversity indices (**Fig. 2.19**).



Fig. 2.19 - Cluster 2: dendrogram (A) and location of harvest (B).

Cluster 3 (**Fig. 2.20**) includes associated samples in its subgroup from Bădeni (P25), Ceplenița (P26 and P27), and Popricani (P28, P29, and P30) from Iași County; the second subgroup includes samples from Pâclele locality (P44, P45, P46, P47, and P48) from Buzău County, samples from Valea Glodului locality (P49 and P50) from Mureș County and a sample from Glodeni locality (P43), from Vaslui County.



Fig. 2.20 - Cluster 3: dendrogram (A) and harvesting locations (B).

Cluster 4 includes samples only from the North-East region of Romania - Moldova: Alexandru cel Bun locality from Iași County (P15, P16, P17, and P18), grouped individually but with similarity to the samples from cluster 5 (**Fig. 2.21**).



Fig. 2.21 - Cluster 4: dendrogram $\left(A\right)$ and location of harvest $\left(B\right).$

Cluster 5 was separated into two groups: in group 5.1 are included the samples from the region of Moldova - the localities Horleşti (P17, P18, P19, and P20) and Tăuteşti (P21, P22, P23, and P24). Group 5.2 includes the samples from the Transylvania region - Slimnic locality (P33, P34, P35, and P36), from Sibiu county, Buneşti locality (P37, P38, and P39), from Braşov County and from Moldova region - Glodeni locality (P40, P41, P42, and P43), from Vaslui County (**Fig. 2.22**).



Fig. 2.22 - Cluster 5: dendrogram (A) and harvesting locations (B).

2.8.5 Discussions on diversity and genetic structure *2.8.5.1 Genetic diversity*

This study evaluated the inter and intra-population variation of *C*. *tataria* species in Romania using ISSR markers (repetitive inter-simple sequences). Thus, the ISSR-PCR technique used to know the diversity, structure, and genetic differentiation of *C*. *tataria* populations, has proven reliable.

Compared to large populations, small populations have less genetic diversity due to genetic drift and inbreeding (WU *et al.*, 2015). This study showed that, although *C. tataria* is considered an endangered species, the level of genetic diversity was moderate (PBP = 45.67 %; He = 0.169; I = 0.251). Moderate genetic polymorphism is due to primers that generated 100 %, polymorphic bands. Compared to other species, the percentage of polymorphic bands in the case of samples of *C. tataria* was lower than in *Brassica napus* L. - 87 % (ABDELMIGID, 2012) or *Draba dorneri* Heuff. - 78.94 % (CATANĂ *et al.*, 2013).

2.8.5.2 Colonization events

The distribution of plant species in Europe has been limited to glacial refuges, as well as to the subsequent recolonization of high latitudes in warmer periods, due to repeated cycles of glaciations that have occurred since the late Pleistocene (THOMPSON, 1999). Currently, the origin of many species of the genus *Crambe* is of the post-Pliocene type (FRANCISCO-ORTEGA *et al.*, 1999).

2.8.5.3 Estimation of conservation status

The evaluation of *C. tataria* populations in Romania was performed according to ecological characteristics, such as habitat types, soil preferences, and population characteristics: size, density, and population structure.

Population size is the most widely used indicator for estimating conservation status.

2.9 Elaboration of conservation strategies 2.9.1 In situ conservation measures

Populations of *C. tataria* showed moderate genetic diversity and partially favorable environmental conditions. Thus, based on the ecological and genetic data of the populations investigated by *C. tataria*, it can be admitted that the main causes of endangerment of the analyzed species are habitat degradation and fragmentation. Therefore, populations of *C. tataria* could be stabilized through some in situ conservation measures, such as rotational grazing, control or elimination of shrub species, the establishment of a buffer zone, manual mowing, control of invasive species, informing the authorities, informing and promoting the protection of habitats, and species, etc.

2.9.2 Ex situ conservation measures

Some *ex situ* conservation measures (storage protocol, seed banks, botanical gardens) will be established to facilitate quasi-*in situ* measures (field collections). *Ex situ* conservation is also important to support the reestablishment of wild populations.

2.9.3 Legislative measures

In the case of legislative measures, we mention:

- extension of some protected areas;
- designation of an area as a protected natural area.

PARTIAL CONCLUSIONS

The field research to update the distribution of *C. tataria* species led to verifying 81 populations, of which only 21 were confirmed. They are distributed near the localities of Alba, Braşov, Buzău, Cluj, Iași, Mureș, Sibiu and Vaslui counties.

The main limiting factors that determine the degradation of the species' habitat, as well as the decrease of the size and number of *C. tataria* populations in grasslands at a national level, are the destruction of the breeding place, intensification of agriculture, overgrazing, and fires.

Scanning electron microscopy analysis showed that the leaf blade is amphistomatic, and the stomata are of the anisocytic type, being present in both epidermis. Internervural has observed the presence of rare unicellular, long tectors hairs and the presence of epicuticular wax.

The recorded values of the chemical elements showed that the species *C. tataria* prefers soils with a low alkaline pH, with a rich content of primary and potassium) (nitrogen, phosphorus, and secondary (calcium) macronutrients, as well as a low organic carbon total. At the same time, the evaluation of the content of heavy metals in the soil (arsenic and lead) varies between the analyzed populations, depending on the positioning of the studied areas. In this case, exceedances of the normal values for both arsenic and lead were recorded. Similarly, the values of the proportion of silicon in the soil are also very high. Low values were recorded regarding aluminium, iron, magnesium, oxygen, and sodium content.

Currently, the size of *C. tataria* populations is decreasing compared to data from the last two decades presented in the literature. Instead, comparing the data from 2021 with those from 2019 shows that the size of the analyzed populations and subpopulations registered an increase in the number of individuals.

The percentage of individuals in a vegetative state exceeded the percentage of flowering individuals. The population's conservation status can be considered unfavorable in most of the identified populations. The anthropogenic influences (grazing with sheep) are high due to the presence of sheepfolds and animal husbandry in these areas.

The analyzed characteristics of the investigated populations indicate a good situation for the populations from Moldova and some from Transylvania, based on the type of management. However, three populations have been identified that are currently declining. The habitats in which these populations grow are rich in nitrogen and potassium.

From a phytocoenological point of view, seven plant associations have been identified in which the species *C. tataria* grows: *Arrhenatheretum elatioris*, *Elytrigietum hispidi*, *Festuco rupicolae* - *Brachypodietum pinnati*, *Jurineo arachnoideae* - *Stipetum lessingianae*, *Medicagini minimae* -*Festucetum valesiaca* and *Thymo pannonici* - *Chrysopogonetum grylli*..

C. tataria grows in a limited variety of habitats, consisting of plant species characteristic of the vegetation classes *Festuco-Brometea* and *Molinio-Arrhenatheretea* and the alliance *Festucion valesiacae* or transitions between the communities between the alliances *Cirsio-Brachypodion pinnati* and *Festucion valesiacae*.

The detrended correspondence analysis (DCA) showed that the floristic composition changes along with precipitation, elevation, and calcium gradients. The canonical correspondence analysis (CCA) indicated that the variation in floristic composition is controlled by climate, especially mean annual precipitation (BIO12).

The evaluation of the genetic variability at intra and inter-population levels of some populations belonging to the *C. tataria* showed that the analyzed populations maintain a relatively moderate genetic diversity.

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

This thesis aimed to identify the eco-coenotic conditions and genetic structure of the species *C. tataria*, as well as to establish measures to protect it. Thus, through the theoretical and practical debate on the achieved objectives, the following conclusions were highlighted:

Updating the data on the distribution of *C. tataria* species in Romania led to identifying 21 populations spread in some localities in Moldova, Muntenia, and Transylvania. The results indicated that the distribution of *C. tataria* populations is uneven, and their distribution by localities is limited by the current state of phytocoenoses, climatic characteristics, and the impact of anthropogenic factors.

Most populations of *C. tataria* grow in relatively fragmented habitats. In this context, anthropogenic factors that negatively affect both the habitat and population size of *C. tataria* are overgrazing and conversion of grasslands to agricultural land.

Chemical analysis of soil samples showed low concentrations of total organic carbon and rich in nutrients and heavy metals. Thus, the values obtained for the 14 chemical analyzes show slightly significant differences in the case of samples taken from the 15 localities. Regarding soil pH, *C. tataria* species prefers alkaline soils.

In the individuals of the populations from Glodeni, Bădeni, Tăutești, and Slimnic, the highest values were registered, and the specimens from the populations from Vulturi and Popricani presented the lowest values.

The proportion of flowering individuals was lower than that of vegetative individuals. Thus, most flowering individuals were observed only in the populations of Miroslava and Horleşti. In terms of population size, it showed a slight increase over the three years of study. Most individuals were registered in the populations of Miroslava (Iaşi County) and Glodeni (Vaslui County).

Demographic parameters (population size and proportion of flowering individuals) are mainly influenced by the structural characteristics of plant communities (height and vegetation cover). The results showed that soil chemical variables are the best predictors of morphological parameters.

The eco-coenotic analysis showed that the *C. tataria* vegetates in a limited variety of plant communities, characteristic of xerophilous grasslands (class *Festuco - Brometea*), together with many transgressive species present in mesophilic grasslands (class *Molinio - Arrhenatheretea*). Of these two types of grasslands, the optimal habitat of the species is xerophilous grasslands.

The results obtained showed in the case of the lower and upper epidermis of the leaf areas of *C. tataria*, the presence of unicellular, long, and multicellular hairs, with massive multicellular base; syntopism is present or absent; stomata are present, anisocytic type; tectors hairs and epicuticular wax coexist; and the leaf blade is amphistomatic. In the case of the upper epidermis, the tectors hairs are absent or are extremely rare and present internervurally. The samples from Rediu, Tăutești, Vânători and Vulturi (Iași County) lack tectors hairs, and the epicuticular wax is poorly represented.

Genetic analysis has shown that populations of *C. tataria* maintain moderate levels of genetic variability at the intra-population level and low levels of genetic differentiation at the interpopulation level. At the same time, we consider great adaptability within the investigated populations. In this case, we admit that the main measure in the case of this species is *in situ* conservation.

OWN CONTRIBUTIONS

In this doctoral thesis, the importance of the results obtained is supported by the following main contributions:

- critical analysis of the literature on the species *C. tataria*;
- characterization of the soil type;
- analysis of the distribution of the species in Romania;
- identification of the causes that determined the restriction of the populations of the analyzed species;
- chemical analysis of soil samples;
- analysis of population and habitat characteristics;
- biometric analysis of morphological parameters;
- identification and description of plant associations;
- analysis of the relationship between the floristic composition, the characteristics of the populations, and the variables studied;
- analysis of genetic variability at inter and intrapopulation levels of *C*. *tataria* populations;
- investigations on the micromorphology of foliar areas from *C. tataria* (SEM);
- elaboration of measures regarding the protection of the analyzed species.

RESEARCH PERSPECTIVES

The decline of *C. tataria* species, as well as the development of strategies for the protection of the species using ecological and genetic methods, still require a concentrated deepening of the prospects for further research in several research directions:

- deepening some aspects of phylogeny and phylogeography.
- conducting studies on the spatial modeling of *C. tataria* populations in Romania;
- expanding research on the influence of the number of ruminants and the areas occupied by pastures on the species *C. tataria*.

SCIENTIFIC ACTIVITY

As the first author, the results obtained in the doctoral thesis were capitalized through the presentation of symposia and the publication of scientific articles in specialized journals.

• Articles published in ISI-rated journals

Simona Dumitrița CHIRILĂ (2022) - Analysis of the characteristics of some populations of *Crambe tataria* Sebeók from Romania. *Acta Oecologica*, **114** (5): 103810. doi: 10.1016/j.actao.2021.103810. IF: 1,674.

• Articles published in BDI-rated journals

Simona Dumitrița CHIRILĂ (2021) - Ecological and chorological studies of the species *Crambe tataria* Sebeók from Romania. *Romanian Journal of Biology - Plant Biology*, **66** (1-2): 39 - 54.

• Presentations at national and international symposia

Simona Dumitrița CHIRILĂ (2021) - Characteristics of plant communities of *Crambe tataria* Sebeók in Romania. International symposium: "CURRENT TRENDS IN NATURAL SCIENCES", University of Pitesti, May 28 - 31, 2021. Poster. doi: 10.13140/RG.2.2.32674.56003/1

Simona Dumitrița CHIRILĂ (2021) - Characteristics of some populations of *Crambe tataria* Sebeók in Romania and their relationships with local environmental conditions. The 7th edition of the BIO.T.A. - Biodiversitate Tradiții și Actualitate. Faculty of Biology and Geology, Babes-Bolyai University Cluj-Napoca, November 19 - 20, 2021. **Poster**. doi: 10.13140/RG.2.2.33932.85120/1

SELECTIVE BIBLIOGRAPHY

- ABDELMIGID H. M. 2012 Efficiency of random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and inter-simple sequence repeats (ISSR) markers for genotype fingerprinting and genetic diversity studies in Canola. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, **11** (24): 6409 - 6419. doi: 10.5897/AJB11.127
- ANGGRIA L., HUSNAIN H., MASUNAGA T. 2020 The controlling factors of silicon solubility in soil solution. Agric, 32 (2): 83 - 94. doi: 10.24246/agric.2020.v32.i2.p83-94
- BALL P.W. 1964 Crambe L. 344 p. În: TUTIN T.G., HEYWOOD V.H., BURGES N.A., MOORE D.M., VALENTINE D.H., WALTERS S.M., WEBB D.A. 1964 - Flora Europaea. Volume 1. Lycopodiaceae to Platanaceae. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- BÅDÅRÅU A.S. 2001 Cercetări biogeografice asupra speciilor stepice de Astragalus L. din Depresiunea Transilvaniei (II). Studia Universitatis Babeş- Bolyai, seria Geographia, tomul XLVI, 1: 51 - 67.
- BĂDĂRĂU A.S. 2019 Raport privind inventarierea şi cartarea pentru specia Crambe tataria în ROSCI0040 Coasta lunii şi în Rezervația Naturală Dealul cu Fluturi. Proiect co-finanțat din Fondul European de Dezvoltare Regională prin Programul Operațional Infrastructură Mare 2014 - 2020, 4 - 36 pp.
- BÉRES M. 1996 A tátorján elsô leírása. (Szolnok, Damjanich Múzeum). Tisicum, 9: 5 16.
- BILZ M., KELL S.P., MAXTED N., LANSDOWN R.V. 2011 European Red List of Vascular Plants. Publications Office of the European Union, 87 p.
- BOUXIN G. 2005 Ginkgo, a multivariate analysis package. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **16**: 355 359. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2005.tb02374.x.
- BOZZOLA J.J., RUSSELL L.D. 1999 Electron Microscopy Principles and Techniques for Biologists. Jones and Bartlett, Boston, 670 p.
- BRÎNZAN T. (ed.), BĂDĂRĂU A.S., MURARIU D., STAICU C., PATRICHE N, CIUBUC C., HULEA D. 2013 - Catalogul habitatelor, speciilor şi siturilor Natura 2000 în România. Editura Fundația Centrul Național pentru Dezvoltare Durabilă, Bucureşti, 145 p.
- BURNHAM K.P., ANDERSON D.R. 2002 Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach. 2nd ed. New York, Springer-Verlag.
- CATANĂ R., MITOI M., ION R. 2013 The RAPD techniques used to assess the genetic diversity in Draba dorneri, a critically endangered plant species. Advances in Bioscience and Biotechnology, 4: 164 - 169.
- CHIFU T., IRIMIA I., ZAMFIRESCU O. 2014 Festuco Brometea, 113 397 pp. în: CHIFU T. (ed.). Diversitatea fitosociologică a vegetației României. Vol. II. Vegetația erbacee antropizată. Tom 1. Vegetația pajiştilor. Editura Institutul European, Iași.
- CHIRILĂ S.D. 2021 Ecological and chorological studies of the species *Crambe tataria* Sebeók from Romania. *Romanian Journal of Biology Plant Biology*, **66** (1-2): 39 54.
- CHIRILĂ S.D. 2022 Analysis of the characteristics of some populations of *Crambe tataria* Sebeók from Romania. *Acta Oecologica*, **114**: 103810. doi: 10.1016/j.actao.2021.103810
- CHYTRÝ M., TICHÝ L., HENNEKENS S.M. et al. 2020 EUNIS Habitat Classification: expert system, characteristic species combinations and distribution maps of European habitats. Applied Vegetation Science, 23: 648 - 675. doi: 10.1111/avsc.12519
- COLDEA G., OPREA A., SÂRBU I., SÂRBU C., ȘTEFAN N. 2012 The vegetable associations of Romania. Cluj University Press Publishing House, Cluj-Napoca.
- CONANT R.T., CERRI C.E.P., OSBORN B.B., PAUSTIAN E., 2017 Grassland management impacts on soilcarbon stocks: a new synthesis. *Ecological Applications*, 27: 662 - 668.
- CRISTEA V., GAFTA D., PEDROTTI Fr. 2004 Fitosociologie. Editura Presa Universitară Clujeană, Cluj -Napoca, 57 p.
- DONIȚĂ N., POPESCU A., PAUCĂ-COMĂNESCU M., MIHĂILESCU S., BIRIȘ I. 2005 Habitatele din România. Tehnică Silvică, București, 496 p.
- DUFRÊNE M., LEGENDRE P. 1997 Species assemblages and indicator species: the need for a flexible assymmetrical approach. *Ecological Monographs*, 67: 345 - 366. doi: 10.1890/0012-9615(1997)067[0345:SAAIST]2.0.CO;2
- FAHR M., LAPLAZE L., BENDAOU N., HOCHER V., EL MZIBRI M., BOGUSZ D. SMOUNI A. 2013 -Effect of lead on root growth. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4: 1 - 7. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2013.00175
- FRANCISCO-ORTEGA J., FUERTES-AGUILAR J., GÓMEZ-CAMPO C., SANTOS-GUERRA A., JANSEN R.K. 1999 - Internal transcribed spacer sequence phylogeny of *Crambe L.* (Brassicaceae): molecular

data reveal two Old World disjunctions. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, **11** (3): 361 - 380. doi: 10.1006/mpev.1998.0592.

- GAFTA D., MOUNTFORD J.O. (ed.) 2008 Manual de interpretare a habitatelor Natura 2000 din România. Editura Risoprint, Cluj-Napoca, 104 p.
- GHOLAMI R., FAKHARI N. 2017 Capitolul 27 Support Vector Machine: Principles, Parameters, and Applications, Editor(s): Pijush Samui, Sanjiban Sekhar, Valentina E. Balas, Handbook of Neural Computation, Academic Press, 515 - 535 pp.
- HAMMER Ø., HARPER D.A.T., RYAN P.D. 2001 PAST: Paleontological Statistics Software Package for Education and Data Analysis. *Palaeontologia Electronica*, **4** (1): 9.
- HORVÁTH A. (ed.) 2005 Tátorján (*Crambe tataria*). KvVM Természetvédelmi Hivatal. Tátorján (*Crambe tataria*), 2 23 pp.
- JACKSON R.S. 2014 5 Site Selection and Climate, Editor(s): Ronald S. Jackson, In Food Science and Technology, Wine Science (Fourth Edition), Academic Press, 307 - 346 pp. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-381468-5.00005-1
- JALAL A., OLIVEIRA JUNIOR J.C., RIBEIRO J.S., FERNANDES G.C., MARIANO G.G., TRINDADE V.D.R., REIS A.R.D. 2021 - Hormesis in plants: Physiological and biochemical responses. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 207: 111225. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111225.
- JONES J.D. 2020 Iron Availability and Management Considerations: A 4R Approach. Crops & Soils, 53: 32 -37. doi: 10.1002/crso.20019
- KERESZTY Z., GALÁNTAI M. 2001 A Crambe tataria Sebeôk és rádi állományának ex-situ konzervációja. Botanikai Közlemenyek, 88 (1 - 2): 2 - 10.
- KIM H., LI X. 2016 Effects of phosphorus on shoot and root growth, partitioning, and phosphorus utilization efficiency in Lantana, *HortScience*, 51 (8): 1001 - 1009.
- KOMAROV V.L. 1970 Flora of the USSR. VIII. Springfield, Va.: Israel Program for Scientific Translations, 354 361 pp.
- KUMAR S., STECHER G., TAMURA K. 2016 MEGA7: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 7.0 for bigger dataset. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 33: 1870 - 1874.
- KUPRIIANOV A.N., TURALIN B.A., KURBATOVA N.V., KURMANBAYEVA M.S., ABIDKULOVA K.T., BAZARGALIYEVA A.A. 2020 - The structure of the populations of *Crambe tataria* Sebeók in the Aktobe Region. Bulletin of the L.N. Gumilyov Eurasian National University. BIOSCIENCE Series, 2, 2 (131): 23 - 30. doi: 10.32523/2616-7034-2020-131-2-23-30.
- ŁASKA G., SIENKIEWICZ A. 2018 Ecological network analysis in modeling of plant population dynamics. *Ecological Questions*, [S.I.], 29 (1): 53 - 62. doi: 10.12775/EQ.2018.004.
- LĂCĂTUȘU R. 2016 Agrochimie. Editura Terra Nostra. Iași.
- LUNGU M., RIZEA N. 2017 Chimia globală a solului. Procese, determinări, interpretări. Editura Terra Nostra. Iași.
- MÂNZU C. C., IRIMIA I., CÎŞLARIU A. G., CHINAN V.-C. 2020 Chorological din Iasi from ROSCI0222 Sărăturile Jijia Inferioară-Prut and ROSPA0042 Eleşteele Jijiei şi Miletinului (Iaşi county). Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis, 46: 35 - 54.
- MCNAUGHTON S.J., TARRANTS J.L. 1983 Grass leaf silicification: natural selection for an inducible defense against herbivores. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A.* 80: 790 - 791.
- MISSIMER T.M., TEAF C.M., BEESON W.T., MALIVA R.G., WOOLSCHLAGER J., COVERT D.J. 2018 -Natural background and anthropogenic arsenic enrichment in Florida Soils, Surface Water, and Groundwater: A review with a discussion on public health risk. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15: 2278; doi: 10.3390/ijerph15102278
- NAGASHIMA H., HIKOSAKA K. 2011 Plants in a crowded stand regulate their height growth so as to maintain similar heights to neighbours even when they have potential advantages in height growth. *Annals of Botany* 108: 207 - 214.
- NEIRA J., ORTIZ M., MORALES L., ACEVEDO E. 2015 Oxygen diffusion in soils: Understanding the factors and processes needed for modeling. *Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research*, **75** (Supl. 1): 35 -44. doi: 10.4067/S0718-58392015000300005
- OLTEAN M., NEGREAN G., POPESCU A., ROMAN N., DIHORU G., SANDA V., MIHĂILESCU S. 1994 -Lista roşie a plantelor superioare din România. În: OLTEAN M. (coord.) - Studii, sinteze, documentații de ecologie. 1. Academia Română, Institutul de Biologie, București, 52 pp.

OROIAN S., SĂMĂGHIŢAN M., TĂNASE C. 2017 - Plants species of community interest identified in the flora of the Transylvanian plain (Mureş County). Studia Universitatis "Vasile Goldiş" Arad. Seria Științele Vieții (Life Sciences Series), 27 (3): 209 - 214.

PÂRVU C. 2005 - Enciclopedia plantelor, plante din Flora României. Editura Tehnică București, 4: 648 - 649.

- PEAKALL R., SMOUSE P.E. 2006 GenAlEx 6: genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 6: 288 - 295. 10.1111/j.1471-8286.2005.01155.x.
- POPESCU I.E. 2013 Rezervația de fânețe seculare de la Valea lui David Iași. 169 186 pp. În: SUSAI Ș. (ed.), Comuna Miroslava. Despre locuri și oameni. Editura Masterprint, Iași, România, 208 pp.
- POSCHLOD P., WALLISDEVRIES M.F. 2002 The historical and socio economic perspective of calcareous grasslands - lessons from the distant and recent past. *Biological Conservation*, **104**: 361 - 437. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00201-4.
- PUSHKAROVA N.A., KALISTA M., KHARKHOTA M., RAKHMETOV D., KUCHUK M. 2016 Crambe tataria Sebeók seeds and plants grown in vitro and in vivo fatty acid composition comparison. Potravinarstvo, 10 (1): 494 - 498. doi: 10.5219/646.
- PUSHKAROVA N.O., LAKHNEKO O.R., MORGUN B.V., KUCHUK M.V., BLUME Ya.B., YEMETS A.I. 2019 - Crambe aspera plants in vitro propagation and its effect on fatty acids and phenolic compounds content and genome stability. *Biopolymers and Cell*, 35 (2): 118 - 128. doi: 10.7124/bc.00099D.
- RAND W. M. 1971 Objective criteria for the evaluation of clustering methods. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, **66** (336): 846 850. doi: 10.2307/2284239.
- RAPAICS R. 1938 A tátorján. A természet (Budapest), 34: 253 256.
- RIAZ A., YOUNIS A., GHANI I., TARIQ U., AHSAN M. 2015 Agricultural waste as a growing media component for the growth and flowering of *Gerbera jamesonii* cv. hybrid mix. *International Journal of Recycling of Organic Waste in Agriculture*, 4: 197 - 204.
- ROUSSEEUW P.J. 1987 Silhouettes: a graphical aid to the interpretation and validation of cluster analysis. *Computational and Applied Mathematics*, **20**: 53 - 65. doi: 10.1016/0377-0427(87)90125-7
- SĂVULESCU T. (ed.) 1955 Flora Republicii Populare Romîne. Academia Republicii Populare Romîne, București, Volumul III, 486 - 491 pp.
- SÂRBU A., OPREA A., SÂRBU I. 2007 Plants from the habitat directive Annex IIb, presents in Romania. Buletinul Grădinii Botanice Iași, 14: 23 - 27.
- SEBEÔK S. 1781 Crambe tataria. 274 291 pp. În: JACQUIN N.J. 1781 Miscellanea austriaca ad botanicam, chemiam, et historiam naturalem spectantia, cum figuris partim coloratis. Vindobonae: Ex Officina Krausiana, 423 pp.
- SHU X., ZHANG Q., WANG W. 2014 Lead induced changes in growth and micronutrient uptake of *Jatropha curcas* L. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, **93** (5): 611 617. doi: 10.1007/s00128-014-1377-4
- SOÓ R. 1942 Az erdélyi medence endemikus és reliktum növényfajai. Acta Geobotanica Hungarica, 5: 141 -183.
- SOÓ R. 1968 A magyar flóra és vegetáció rendszertani-növényföldrajzi kézikönyve III. Akadémia, Budapest, 299 300 pp.
- SUGIER P., SUGIER D., SOZINOV O., KOŁOS A., WOŁKOWYCKI D., PLAK A., BUDNYK O. 2019 -Characteristics of plant communities, population features, and edaphic conditions of *Arnica montana* L. populations in pine forests of mid-Eastern Europe. *Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae*, 88 (4): 3640. doi: 10.5586/asbp.3640.
- SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA M., CHWIAŁKOWSKA K., NIEMIRA M., KWAŚNIEWSKI M., NAWROT M., GAJECKA M., LARSEN P.B., SZAREJKO I. 2021 - Aluminum or Low pH - Which is the bigger enemy of barley? Transcriptome analysis of barley root meristem under al and low ph stress. *Frontiers* in Genetics, 12: 675260. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2021.675260
- TARIKAHYA-HACIOĞLU B. 2016 Molecular diversity of the wild Crambe (Brassicaceae) taxa in Turkey detected by inter-simple sequence repeats (ISSRs). Industrial Crops and Products, 80: 214 - 219. doi: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2015.11.065.
- THOMPSON J. 1999 Population differentiation in Mediterranean plants: insights into colonization history and the evolution and conservation of endemic species. *Heredity*, **82**: 229 - 236. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.hdy.6885040
- TICHÝ L. 2002 JUICE, software for vegetation classification. Journal of Vegetation Science, 13: 451 453. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2002.tb02069.x
- WHITE P. J., BROADLEY M. R. 2003 Calcium in plants. Annals of Botany, 92: 487 511.

- WILKES J. 1810 *Encyclopaedia Londinensis*, or, Universal Dictionary of Arts, Sciences, and Literature, **5**: 318.
- WU F.Q., SHEN S.K., ZHANG X.J., WANG Y.H., SUN W.B. 2015 Genetic diversity and population structure of an extremely endangered species: the world's largest Rhododendron. *AoB PLANTS*, 7: plu082.
- YANG J., EL-KASSABY Y.A., GUAN W. 2020 The effect of slope aspect on vegetation attributes in a mountainous dry valley, Southwest China. *Scientific Reports*, 10: 16465. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-73496-0
- ZHAO Y., DING Y., HOU X., LI F.Y., HAN W., YUN X. 2017 Effects of temperature and grazing on soil organic carbon storage in grasslands along the Eurasian steppe eastern transect. *PloS one*, **12** (10): e0186980. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186980

SELECTIVE WEBOGRAPHY

- Digital Soil Map of the World (DSMW) 2007 Harta digitală a solului din lume. Disponibil online la http://www.fao.org/geonetwork/srv/en/metadata.show%3Fid=14116. Accesat la 12 septembrie 2020.
- Euro+Med, 2006 Euro+Med PlantBase the information resource for Euro-Mediterranean plant diversity. Disponibil online la http://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed/. Accesat la 1 iunie 2021.
- Geospatial Disponibil online la http://geo-spatial.org/vechi/download/romania-seturi-vectoriale. Accesat la 15 august 2020.
- HEWITSON J. 2020 Influencing leaf size and number of leaves. Disponibil online la https://www.saps.org.uk/saps-associates/browse-q-and-a/654-how-can-you-increase-the-leaf-size-onfast-plants-how-can-you-increase-the-number-of-leaves-a-plant-will-grow. Accesat la 28 mai 2020.
- KELL S.P. 2011 Crambe tataria. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2011. Disponibil online la: https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/162122/5544350. Accesat la 23 februarie 2019.
- MARHOLD K. 2011 Brassicaceae. În: euro+Med plantbase Disponibil online la http://ww2.bgbm.org/ europlusMed/query.asp. Accesat la 12 august 2019.
- Minitab, LLC. 2021 Minitab. Disponibil online la https://www.minitab.com. Accesat la 19 august 2021.
- MOLNÁR A.V. 1998a A tátorján: kenyér vagy fergeteg? Disponibil online la https://web.archive.org/web/20050115152107/http://www.sulinet.hu/eletestudomany/archiv/1998/9817/t atorjan.html. Accesat la 24 decembrie 2020.
- Promega, 2014-2018 GoTaq G2 Green Master Mix with 1000 reactions. Disponibil online la https://www.promega.com/-/media/files/resources/protocols/product-information-sheets/g/gotaq-g2green. Accesat la 25 iunie 2021.
- Shuttle Radar Topography Mission Disponibil online la http://srtm.csi.cgiar.org/srtmdata/. Accesat la 15 august 2020.
- Sigma-Aldrich, G2N70 GenElute Plant Genomic DNA Miniprep Kit. Disponibil online la https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/RO/en/product/sigma/g2n70. Accesat la 25 iunie 2021.
- *** Convenția de la Berna Convenția privind conservarea vieții sălbatice şi a habitatelor naturale din Europa, 1998 - specii care necesită măsuri specifice de conservare a habitatului (anul revizuirii 2011). Disponibil online la https://rm.coe.int/1680746347. Accesat la 2 ianuarie 2020.
- *** European Commission. Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild Fauna and Flora. Disponibil online la http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:31992L0043:EN:HTML. Accesat la 27 octombrie 2019.
- *** Order no. 756 of November 3, 1997 Disponibil online la http://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocument/13572. Accesat la 12 august 2021.
- *** SR ISO 10390, 2015 Soil quality Determination of pH.
- *** 2003 Sistemul Român de Taxonomie a Solului.
- *** SR EN 15309, 2007 Characterization of waste and soil Determination of elemental composition by X-ray fluorescence.
- *** ISO 11263, 1994 Soil quality Determination of phosphorus Spectrometric determination of phosphorus soluble in sodium hydrogen carbonate solution.
- *** European Environment Agency, 2007 2012 Crambe tataria. Report under the Article 17 of the Habitats Directive. 1 - 7 pp.